Public Document Pack

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 26 APRIL 2016
1.30 PM
Council Chamber - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda,
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a
“pending notification” that has been disclosed to the Monitoring Officer.

3.

Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward
Councillor

4.

Minutes of the Meeting Held on 22 March 2016

5.

Development Control and Enforcement Matters

6.

3 - 10

5.1

15/01106/OUT - Land South of Oundle Road at East of England
Showground, Oundle Road, Alwalton, Peterborough

11 - 44

5.2

16/00398/FUL - 1650 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE6 7HH

45 - 70

5.3

16/00180/HHFUL - 5 Woodfield Road, Peterborough, PE3 6HD

71 - 78

5.4

16/00334/HHFUL - 126 Ainsdale Drive, Werrington,
Peterborough, PE4 6RP

79 - 84

Partnership Scheme in Conservation Areas (PSiCA) (Cowgate)

85 - 104

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms. Some of the
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral. The duty Beadle will assume
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Committee Members:
Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), P Hiller, N North, J Stokes,
S Martin, Sylvester, D Harrington, J Okonkowski and S Lane
Substitutes: Councillors: G Casey, N Shabbir, C Ash, R Herdman and J R Fox
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk
CASE OFFICERS:
Planning and Development Team:

Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith,
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell,
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste:

Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance:

Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:
1.

Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2.

The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.

3.

These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4.

The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5.

These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is
received after their preparation.

AB
MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE
HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 22 MARCH 2016
Members Present:

Councillors Harper (Chair), Hiller, North, Stokes, Martin, Sylvester,
Okonkowski, Harrington, and Lane

Officers Present:

Lee Collins, Development Management Manager
Amanda McSherry, Principal Development Management Officer
Janet MacLennan, Senior Development Management Officer (Item
5.2)
Jim Daley, Principal Built Environment Officer (Archaeology and
Building Conservation) (Item 6)
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highways)
Ruth Lea, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Amanda Nauth, Lawyer
Pippa Turvey, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1.

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Serluca.

2.

Declarations of Interest
Councillor Harrington, in relation to agenda item 5.2 ‘Battlefield Live, French Drove,
Thorney, Peterborough’, declared that he was acquainted with some of the parties
through the Newborough Landscape Protection Group. He was not, however,
predetermined.
Councillor Hiller, in relation to agenda item 5.2 ‘Battlefield Live, French Drove, Thorney,
Peterborough’, declared that he had been previously involved with this application. As
such, he would leave the room during the consideration of this item.

3.

Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor
No Member declarations of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor were
received.

4.

Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 February 2016
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2016 were approved as a correct record.

5.

Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 15/01840/OUT – Land to the West of Uffington Road, Barnack, Stamford
The planning application was for outline permission for up to 80 residential dwellings
(including up to 30% affordable) on land to the west of Uffington Road, Barnack. The
application also included the introduction of structural planting and landscaping, informal
open space and children’s play area, surface water flood mitigation and attenuation,

3

vehicular access from Uffington Road, and associated ancillary works. All matters were
to be reserved, with the exception of the main site access.
It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be refused, for the reasons set
out in the report. The Principal Development Management Officer provided an overview
of the application and highlighted a number of key issues within the report and update
report.
Councillor Over, Ward Councillor, and Councillor Bloom, Barnack Parish Council,
addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the
key points highlighted included:
 Councillor Bloom did not believe that the development would benefit local
residents, and objected to the proposals on a number of grounds;
 The development would exceed the strategic housing requirement for the area,
when considered in conjunction with the Paynesfield development;
 It was believed that the proposal would negatively impact the conservation area;
 Development outside of the village envelope was contrary to Council policy and
the Village Statement;
 There was not considered to be any need for affordable housing in the village;
 It was considered that an adverse impact would be had on the views of the area,
and that the speeding problems in the vicinity would increase;
 The infrastructure in the village was not thought to be sufficient;
 The proposal represented a threat to the local Badger population;
 Councillor Over believed that the development was unsuitable for the village;
 There had been no development outside the village envelope before, and it was
not believed that there was any need to do so now; and
 It was suggested that existing housing was already available and that the poor
public transport links in the area made it unsuitable for affordable housing.
June Woollard addressed the Committee in objection to the application and responded
to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:
 The applicant had lived in Barnack all her life;
 Mrs Woollard advised that she was not against gradual development within the
village boundary, however the proposal represented significant development on
agricultural land outside the village;
 It was believed that the proposal was out of proportion with the size of the village
and included a footpath that was not popular within the village;
 The facilities in the village were limited, with no bus service in the early morning
or after 6:00pm;
 It was believed that there were no spaces available in the local school and that
the Doctor’s Surgery could not sustain additional residents;
 Mrs Woollard suggested that the development would negatively impact an
important conservation area, and ‘Barnack Hills and Holes’;
 Concern was raised around the proposed widening of the road and whether this
would destroy unique verges; and
 It was not believed that there was any housing need in the locality.
In response to questions from the Committee, the Principal Development Management
Officer advised that there were no specific figures available in relation to how many
additional school places would be required. The Governors of the local school had not
raised any convers and no objection had been made by Education Officers.
The Committee discussed the application and noted that a considerable amount of
objection had been received from residents, Parish and Ward Councillors, and the MP.

4

The Committee considered that the application was not appropriate in the proposed
location.
A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be refused, as per
officer recommendation, for the reasons set out in the report. The motion was carried
unanimously.
RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is REFUSED for the reasons set out
below.
Reasons for the decision
The proposal was unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations,
Including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons
given in the report.
5.2 15/02104/FUL – Battlefield Live, French Drove, Thorney, Peterborough
Councillor Hiller retired from the meeting at this point.
The planning application was for the change of use for part of an existing agricultural
barn and paddock at Battlefield Live, French Drove, Thorney to a Laser Tag activity
area.
It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be refused, for the reasons set
out in the report. The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the
application and highlighted a number of key issues within the report and update report.
Councillor Bartlett, Thorney Parish Council, addressed the Committee and responded to
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:
 The application was first discussed by the Parish Council in 2011, prior to Mr
Simons becoming a Parish Councillor;
 No complaints had been received during the temporary permission;
 It was suggested that objections had evolved into personal attacks;
 The Parish Council wished for the application to be heard by the City Council
Committee straight away, however the Parish Council did hear the current
application;
 During the deliberation, Mr Simons and one other Parish Councillor left the room.
The application was supported by a majority vote, and the Parish Council
referred the application to the Committee; and
 It was believed that the application had resulted in bitterness within the
community.
Councillor Sanders, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:
 Councillor Sanders explained that he had visited near the application site after
the planning inspector’s decision, while the site was still in operation, to establish
the noise levels;
 It was considered that Councillor Sanders would not wish to live with the level of
noise he experience while at the site;
 The Battlefield Live experience was fun, however it was not believed to be
appropriate in the proposed location, as people who lived in the countryside
expected a certain level of peace and quiet;
 Councillor Sanders believed that the application was substantially the same as

5





the previous application, which had been refused by the Committee;
Noise complaints had been received during the operation of the business, and
Councillor Sanders had referred these to the Enforcement Team;
The noise was likened to that of a children’s football match, and it was noted that
sound tended to travel long distances in the countryside; and
The Development Management Manager confirmed that Sparrow Barn and Oak
Lodge residents had objected. No objection had been received from Bluebell
Cottage.

Mrs Jose, Clare Cottage resident, and Helen Godber, Old Hall Farm Cottage resident,
addressed the Committee in objection to the application and responded to questions
from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:
 Mrs Jose had been a resident for 28 years;
 It was believed that the application was driven purely by the applicant’s desire to
use his family’s land for the proposed business, and not what was appropriate
for the site;
 It appeared to be that the applicant was under the impression that residences
were distant and scattered. However. Mrs Jose advised that this was not the
case and that a strong sense of community existed in the area;
 The Battlefield Live franchise could be facilitated at any location, the applicant’s
did not necessarily have to pursue it in the proposed location;
 It was suggested that the noise not only affected the nearby residents, but those
people who walked in the local area as well;
 Ms Godber explained that the noise in question did not come from the
equipment, but from the screaming and shouting of the participants;
 The surrounding land was open and flat, as such noise carried significant
distances;
 Peace and quiet was considered at key factor of countryside living; and
 It was believed that the application was significantly the same as the previous
submission, and would course the same level of distress.
Gareth Edwards, Swann Edwards Architecture, Sean Sullivan, Acoustic Associates, and
Graham Simons and Nigel Simons, applicants, addressed the Committee in support of
the application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points
highlighted included:
 Nigel Simons advised that, following the refusal of the previous application, the
applicants had worked with officers. As such the current proposal had moved
and acoustic fencing had been added;
 Graham Simons believed that the application supported the development of rural
business;
 The noise was that of children playing, similar to that of a children’s football
match. It was suggested that complaints were not received about these;
 It was claimed that during the previous trial period, no substantial noise
complaints were made and that residents were unable to complete their log
books due to the lack of noise;
 A number of individual instances of noise had been raised, which the applicants
believed to be dog walkers in one instance, and of too short a period to be
significant in the other;
 It was believed that the application satisfied local and national criteria;
 Sean Sullivan reiterated that there was no criteria in place for such schemes in
terms of noise levels. The noise generated from the site was generally low, at 35
to 40 dB. However, as the background noise of the site was also low, the
disparity between the two was noted. It was believed the proposed acoustic
fencing would mitigate against this;

6





The site had operated with an average of 30 people per day, with two sessions
from 10:30 to 12:30 and 14:00 to 16:00. It was estimated that there was
approximate to blocks of 45 minute play per session;
An initial maximum of 20 participants has been in place, however this was often
exceeded with school visits, where up to 40 students attended; and
It was believed that fences up to 2 metres did not require planning permission.
The fences proposed on the site were designed to extend from the pre-existing
buildings, so as to limit their impact.

In response to questions from the Committee, the Development Management Manager
advised that relevant evidence in relation to noise levels was included within the report,
and that, on its own, a 2 metre high fence could be erected under permitted
development regulations.
The Committee discussed the application and expressed sympathy for the objectors,
reiterating the importance of the countryside environment. The matter of noise was
raised, and the Committee considered that a balanced judgement would be required.
In response to discussion of noise levels experience during the site visit, the Planning
and Highways Lawyer advised that the advice from officers and noise consultants was
included within the report, and that any informal experiments were not material planning
considerations. It was further advised that if a condition was proposed for a trial period,
this would be likely to fail the test of necessity required for conditions, as a trial period
has already been undertaken.
The Committee compared the potential noise of the proposal to children playing in a
school or park, which was not considered to be of significant impact. It was, however,
noted that residents in the countryside had greater expectations of peace and quiet. In
relation to the proposed acoustic fence, the Committee suggested that the signified the
applicant’s attempt to mitigate and noise pollution and were pleased to see that natural
hedging was proposed to block the fence.
A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, contrary to
officer recommendation, subject to a condition in relation to the acoustic fencing and
with delegated authority to the Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration to include
other appropriate conditions. The motion was carried five voting in favour and three
voting against.
RESOLVED: (five voted in favour and three voted against) that:
1) Planning permission is GRANTED subject to a condition in relation to the
acoustic fencing; and
2) Authority be delegated to the Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration to
include other conditions and appropriate.
Reasons for the decision
It was considered that, on balance, the application would not produce unacceptable
levels of noise. It was further considered that acoustic fencing proposed by the applicant
would provide sufficient noise mitigation, and did not represent a visual intrusion within
the landscape.
Councillor Lane left the meeting at this point.

7

5.3 16/00042/FUL – 85 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 6EY
Councillor Hiller re-joined the meeting at this point.
The Chair advised that planning application ‘16/00042/FUL – 85 Mayors Walk, West
Town, Peterborough, PE3 6EY’ had been withdrawn by the applicant.
5.4 15/01073/HHFUL – Newe House, Main Street, Ufford, Stamford
The planning application was for a two storey front extension at Newe House, Main
Street, Ufford, a single storey rear extension, the conversion of the garage and loft to
create a habitable space, including raising the roof height and additional dormers. The
application was a resubmission.
It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted, subject to the
conditions set out in the report. The Development Management Manager provided an
overview of the application and highlighted a number of key issues within the report.
Councillor Lievesley, Ufford Parish Council, addressed the Committee and responded to
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:
 It was considered that the current application was a great improvement on the
initial application and would be acceptable within the location; and
 The Parish Council were unable to come to a conclusion regarding the impact of
the development on Weathervane Cottage. As such, the Parish Council had
referred the application to the Committee.
Sean Gray, applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the application and
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:
 The proposal would increase the ridge height of the dwelling by 70 centimetres.
A lot of effort had been put into bringing the ridge height of the proposal down;
 Numerous consultation had been undertaken, which incorporated materials that
would fit in with the character of the village;
 The only objection raised had been from Weathervane Cottage in relation to
light;
 It was not believed that there would be any material impact on light levels
resulting from the development;
 The proposal was not for a commercial venture, but for personal use; and
 Mr Gray wished for the development to positively contribute to the existing street
scene, as such, reclaimed limestone would be used, with other locally sourced
materials.
The Committee discussed the application and were impressed that the applicant had
worked with officers and the Parish Council to address the concerns raised by the
previous proposal.
A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per
officer recommendation, subject to the conditions set out in the report. The motion was
carried unanimously.
RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the
conditions set out in the report.
Reasons for the decision

8

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

6.

-

From a heritage consideration the proposal was acceptable. The extensions and
their detailing would preserve and enhance the character and appearance of the
Ufford Conservation Area and would not harm the setting of nearby listed
buildings in accordance with Section 66 and 72(1), of the Town and Country
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and
policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011),
policies PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and
the National Planning Policy Framework (Heritage considerations).

-

The extensions to the dwelling would not adversely impact upon the amenities of
the occupiers of the two adjacent residential properties known as Willow Tree
Cottage and Weathervane Cottage in accordance with policy CS16 of the
Peterborough Core Strategy and policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning
Policies DPD.

Urgent Item - Immediate Direction under Article 4(1) of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 restricting permitted
development rights
Members were asked to determine whether the item, which contained exempt
information as defined by Paragraph 6 of Schedule 12A of Part 1 of the Local
Government Act 1972, should be exempt and the press and public excluded from the
meeting for the duration of the item, or whether the public interest in disclosing the
information outweighed the public interest in maintaining the exemption.
The Committee unanimously agreed to the exemption and the press and public were
excluded from the meeting.
The Committee received and discussed a report which requested it to make an
immediate Direction under Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 restricting permitted development rights at a
property located within Eye and Thorney Ward.
A motion was proposed and seconded to approve the making of an immediate Article 4
Direction, as per officer recommendation. The motion was carried unanimously.
RESOLVED: (unanimous) to agree the making and serving of an immediate Direction.
Reasons for the decision
The Committee considered that the Direction was required as per the reasons outlined
within the exempt committee report.
Chairman
1.30pm – 4:00pm

9

This page is intentionally left blank

10

11

This page is intentionally left blank

12

Planning and EP Committee

Item 1

Application Ref:

15/01106/OUT

Proposal:

Up to 130 dwellings with all matters reserved except for access

Site:
Applicant:

Land South Of Oundle Road At East Of England Showground, Oundle
Road, Alwalton, Peterborough
East Of England Agricultural Society And Milton (Peterborough)

Agent:

Savills (UK) Ltd

Referred By:
Reason:

Director of Growth and Regeneration
Major application of wider concern

Site visit:

04.08.2015

Case officer:
Telephone No.
E-Mail:

Miss V Hurrell
01733 453480
victoria.hurrell@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:

GRANT subject to (1) relevant conditions and authority being delegated to
Officers to make any necessary or appropriate adjustments to these
conditions including the imposition of new conditions and (2) the
completion of a S106 Agreement

1

Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

The Site and Surroundings
The application site which is some 5.66 hectares in size is located on the western edge of
Peterborough some 5 miles from the city centre, within the urban area boundary. The site wraps
around two existing properties including No 5/7 Oundle Road which is a Listed Building.
To the east is the recent development of Arena Drive whilst to the south is the Peterborough
Showground. To the west is the A1. To the north of the site is the A605 Oundle Road, beyond
which is the village of Alwalton through which a section of the A605 runs, before connecting with
the A1.
Peterborough City Council is the highway body responsible for the section of Oundle Road in front
of the site and for the junction into the village. Cambridgeshire County Council are responsible for
Oundle Road where it crosses over the A1 to the west and for the roads within the village of
Alwalton. Highways England are responsible for the A1.
Much of the village of Alwalton is designated as a Conservation Area including the area to the east
of the A605. The village also has a number of Listed Buildings. The village of Alwalton falls under
the administrative area of Huntingdonshire District Council.
There are a number of existing trees within the application site primarily along the northern
boundary (adjacent to 5/7 Oundle Road), the eastern boundary with Arena Drive and the southern
boundary with the Showground. The land is currently in agricultural use and slopes east to west,
down to the A1.
The application site is allocated for residential development (up to 210 units) in the adopted Site
Allocations DPD.
The Proposal

13

This application seeks outline planning permission for up to 130 units and a new site access off
Oundle Road. All other matters are reserved for detailed consideration at a later date.
The proposal would result in the need to alter and signalise the junction into the village of Alwalton.
2

Planning History

Reference
12/00006/SCREEN

3

Proposal
Decision
Screening opinion for an Environmental Comments
Impact Assessment for proposed residential
development

Date
03/07/2012

Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses.
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses.
National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
Section 4 - Assessment of Transport Implications
Development which generates a significant amount of traffic should be supported by a Transport
Statement/Transport Assessment. It should be located to minimise the need to travel/to maximise
the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel Plan. Large scale
developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be provided and
the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.
Section 7 - Good Design
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place;
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for
development of poor design.
Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.
Section 11 - Noise
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted;
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and

14

quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.
Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness. When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given
to the asset’s conservation.
Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the
harm/loss. In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)
CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.
CS02 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
Provision will be made for an additional 25 500 dwellings from April 2009 to March 2026 in
strategic areas/allocations.
CS08 - Meeting Housing Needs
Promotes a mix of housing the provision of 30% affordable on sites of 15 of more dwellings (70%
social rented and 30% intermediate housing), 20% life time homes and 2% wheelchair housing.
CS10 - Environment Capital
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become
Environment Capital of the UK.
CS13 - Development Contributions to Infrastructure Provision
Contributions should be secured in accordance with the Planning Obligations Implementation
Scheme SPD (POIS).
CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm,
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.
CS17 - The Historic Environment
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including nonscheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.
CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.
CS22 - Flood Risk
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.
Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012)
SA03 - Urban Area
Identifies sites within the Urban Area that are allocated primarily for residential use

15

SA08 - Prestige Homes
Identifies sites which will be expected to deliver a reasonable proportion of prestige homes in
accordance with Core Strategy policy CS8.
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)
PP03 - Impacts of New Development
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.
PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they
provide for the needs of the future residents.
PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including
highway safety.
PP13 - Parking Standards
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made
in accordance with standards.
PP14 - Open Space Standards
Residential development (within Use Classes C3 and C4) will be required to provide open space in
accordance with the minimum standards. The type of on-site provision will depend on the nature
and location of the development and the needs of the local area.
PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.
PP17 - Heritage Assets
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the
significance of the asset or its setting. Development which would have detrimental impact will be
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016.
At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010
Paragraphs 203-205 of the National Planning Policy Framework: Planning Conditions and
Obligations:
Requests for planning obligations whether CIL is in place or not, are only lawful where they meet
the following tests:(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and

16

(c)

fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

In addition obligations should be:
(i)
relevant to planning;
(ii) reasonable in all other respects.
Planning permissions may not be bought or sold. Unacceptable development cannot be permitted
because of benefits/inducements offered by a developer which are not necessary to make the
development acceptable in planning terms. Neither can obligations be used purely as a means of
securing for the local community a share in the profits of development.
4

Consultations/Representations

Internal
PCC Conservation Officer (11.01.2016)
From a heritage perspective there are a number of heritage assets potentially affected by the
development. The development would lie to the east, south and west of 5/7 Oundle Road. The
proposed building footprints with the open space immediately to the south of the listed building and
tree belt would not intrude significantly on the immediate setting of the listed building. The precise
form, detail and layout of the buildings can be developed together with landscape enhancement to
ensure the setting of the buildings is not diminished.
The existing wide and sprawling junction of Oundle Road and the A605 would benefit from
remodelling to reduce the urban main road character to one appropriate for a village entrance. The
proposed signalised junction will result in visual intrusion although the reason for the signals is
noted. The impact upon the Alwalton Conservation Area is for colleagues Huntingdon to comment
on. That said, the introduction of the grass verge replanting of the existing areas of asphalt is to the
benefit of the street scene and the entrance of the conservation area.
The long linear central avenue within the site does not give any intimacy and with the fall in the
land to the west the traffic to the A1 would be the focal point. The principle of an active frontage to
Oundle Road with principle building elevations is supported.
Archaeological Officer (27.07.15)
No objections. The agreed archaeological investigations have been completed and reported in the
submitted information. No further work is deemed necessary.
Education & Children’s Dept - Planning & Development
No comments received
PCC Pollution Team (18.09.15)
No objections. The noise report identifies that mitigation is required for the development. Measures
are specified to demonstrate that an acceptable scheme can be achieved. To provide adequate
noise insulation alternative methods of providing ventilation and control of summertime
temperatures must be considered such as 'whole house' systems. Acoustic trickle vents will not
provide adequate ventilation for these purposes. Consideration should also be given to the design
of the internal layouts to situate less noise sensitive rooms on facades facing the noise source.
Where gardens are exposed to road noise a 1.8m high acoustic barrier or screen should be
erected to minimise noise levels. A detailed scheme will need to be submitted for agreement at the
design stage.
Recommend a condition in respect of unsuspected contamination.
PCC Transport & Engineering Services (05.04.2016)
No objections to the application in light of the further clarification which has been provided in
respect of the modelling information and assessment of the stage 1 safety audit and associated

17

tracking plans. The requirement from Highways England to signalise the junction into the village of
Alwalton is noted. Have no objections to the position of the site access or its relationship to the
adjacent bus stops. Whilst the comments on using Joseph Odam Way are noted, the application
has to be considered on the basis of the current proposal and this is acceptable in highway terms.
PCC Senior Recreation Officer
No comments received
PCC Travel Choice (07.08.15)
A Travel Plan should be secured via a condition.
PCC Strategic Housing (11.08.15)
No objections. The development should provide 30% affordable housing in line with policy to be
secured through a S106 Agreement along with the range and mix. This will be confirmed at the
detailed design stage.
Childcare Market Facilitation Manager (T Laws)
No comments received
Lead Local Drainage Authority (27.11.15)
No objections to the granting of outline planning permission having reviewed the amended
drainage strategy. Recommends a condition requiring the submission and approval of a detailed
scheme of surface water drainage, prior to the commencement of development.
Waste Management
No comments received
PCC Wildlife Officer (04.08.15)
No objections to the granting of outline planning permission subject to conditions and
recommendations being fully incorporated into the detailed design of the scheme.
PCC Tree Officer (19.08.15)
It is noted that the information submitted is raw data and has not been assessed against a site
layout. Notes that a number of existing trees and hedgerow would be lost. With regard to the trees
around No 5 Oundle Road there is likely to be significant tree loss. It is acknowledged that the
majority of these trees will be scrub and low quality specimens. However, this loss needs to be
quantified and if required individual trees need to be surveyed rather than assuming large groups.
Furthermore at reserved matters stage it may be beneficial to look at trees in the rear gardens on a
plot by plot basis. It is noted that the hedgerow on the southwest boundary is to remain. The
illustrative master plan indicated infill planting further east. However, group B to the east of the
southern boundary already casts a long shade pattern to prevent future conflict through shading it
is suggested that instead of gardens backing onto this area either a buffer strip or open space is
allocated.
External
Orton Waterville Parish Council (18.08.15)
The Parish Council understands that the site is already approved for housing development and that
it cannot therefore make comments or raise objections to the principle of development. However, it
does have concerns about the proposed access arrangements. The Parish Council is strongly
opposed to the proposal to access the site via Oundle Road. Not only is it a bad design it will
cause disruption and delays onto Oundle Road, may be dangerous and is also unnecessary. To
the east and south of the site there is already an access road along and off Joseph Odam Way
which could easily be extended to serve this development. It seems obvious that future extensions
of the development are envisaged which will make access onto Oundle Road even more
unacceptable.

18

Alwalton Parish Council (10.08.15)
Object to the application. The development is not within the village of Alwalton as suggested.
There are a number of inaccuracies in the submission.
The current traffic flow in which the filtering of traffic from the A1 south through the village and
traffic from the A605 (both Elton and the A1 north) takes place is generally very successful.
However, the major 'pinch point' is the roundabout at the entrance to Lynch Wood, Minerva and
Marriot Hotel and Joseph Odam Way which cannot handle the current volume of traffic at peak
periods causing queues back to the Alwalton junction and beyond. No amount of work on the
Alwalton junction will alleviate this problem. Therefore, emphasis should be placed on improving
the traffic flow through this roundabout, especially with the relocation of Thomas Cook.
The proposed traffic lights at the junction will cause standing traffic through the village, particularly
in the morning peak, making it impossible for residents to exit the village and resulting in more
traffic fumes. Slow moving traffic, as presently happens, allows filtering that is beneficial to
residents. The Parish Council feel strongly that the City Council should look very closely at the
implications of increased traffic on the A605 and to/from the A1 through the village of Alwalton as a
result of this development. The negative impact of this development would be enormously reduced
if access were provided through Joseph Odam Way. The current road system serving both the
Showground and existing housing have sufficient space at the side of them to allow another
access road. Large lorries bringing hard core to this proposed development site are already using
this access.
This proposed development which is in Peterborough will irrevocably alter the nature of the historic
Huntingdonshire village of Alwalton and especially the Conservation Area for the sake of 130
houses. The 600 houses proposed at Roxhill which are an additional allocation are better located
Highways England (07.04.2016)
No objections subject to an imposition of a condition requiring that the signalised junction be
implemented before the occupation of the first dwelling and a condition requiring the monitoring of
the signals/ additional signalisation of the left turn merge lane if this is subsequently identified as
being required. Following earlier response the applicant has now provided further detail in respect
of the land drainage. Since the existing ditch adjacent to the A1 southbound carriageway is now
known to be a carrier drain and flows to the watercourse to the south Highways England is content
to remove C2 of its previous response (dated 25/08/2015).
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) (04.08.15)
No objections to the granting of outline planning permission. General comments on layout
principles. Would want to be consulted further at the detailed design stage.
Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service
No comments received
Environment Agency (11.08.15)
No objections subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of a
scheme of foul drainage.
Natural England - Consultation Service (20.08.15)
No objections. Natural England is satisfied that the proposal would not adversely harm the interest
features for which Castor Flood Meadows SSSI has been notified. The SSSI does not therefore
represent a constraint in determining this application. Natural England has not assessed the
application in terms of impacts upon protected species. Its standing advice should be referred to.
Cambridgeshire County Council (11.08.2016)
No objections. The County is able to remove its holding objection in light of the further analysis
which has been carried out and the conditions requested by Peterborough City Council Highways
Authority and Highways England.

19

Huntingdon District Council (28.08.15)
Concerned that the site is outside of the built up area and thereby inconsistent with settlement
polices. Also concerned that Alwalton, which is a small historic rural settlement in Huntingdonshire
District, will be consumed by Peterborough if this development proceeds. This will change the
perception of the village which is also a Conservation Area and its character.
Anglian Water Services Ltd (12.08.15)
No objections subject to a condition requiring the submission and approval of a foul drainage
strategy. Surface water drainage/flood risk is outside its remit.
Local Residents/Interested Parties
Consultations: 224. Note- 118 consultation letters were originally sent out. Due to the concerns
being raised and the level of interest in the application in the village of Alwalton more individual
notification letters have been sent out. The consultation period expires on 22 April so any further
representations received will be set out to members in the Update Report.
Total number of responses: 31
Total number of objections: 31 (note some objectors have submitted more than one
representation)
Total number in support: 0
29 letters of neighbour objection have been received in relation to the application. These raise the
following issues:Principle of Development
 There are many sites which could be rejuvenated and housing located there.
 There is already a shortage of local facilities and too many existing houses.
 Concerned that the number of dwellings could rise.
 There is already excessive development in what was a very pleasant part of the English
countryside which is now blighted with a great, ugly grey, prison like office block which is
undergoing further development.
 No development of this kind should be permitted until all of the brownfield sites have
been exhausted.
 There are better locations and land already with permission not being developed. Perhaps
compulsory purchase should be used to progress these site with permission. In addition,
the new Local Plan will provide better placed sites with better road infrastructure.
 There are sufficient other housing sites in the vicinity of the site.
 130 dwellings is too many and would result in over development of the site.
 With the amount of suggested changes to the roads and associated costs, it is obvious that
this proposed development is part of a much larger scheme which will cause even more
problems for Alwalton.
Highways
 The number of homes planned and the entrance/exit onto Oundle Road would be a safety
hazard. At present there are issues of speeding in both Chesterton and Alwalton which will
be exacerbated by this development.
 Sitting the entrance and exist at the side of the development where there is a roundabout
would at least prevent increased pressure and though it may mean a re-design of the site
would at least mitigate against future problems. The nearness of the A1 slip road appears
to cause a speeding problem even with 50mph signs.
 If the new home owners wish to visit the shop/post office it would be necessary/beneficial to
have a road safety crossing from the site to Alwalton to prevent accidents.
 Object to the development on the ground of increased traffic. Oundle Road running along
Alwalton village is already bumper to bumper in the morning with traffic coming into the

20
























business parks. Cars also queue through the village and onto Oundle Road when they
come in via the A1 including large lorries. Traffic intensifies again when there is a show on
at the Showground. During the building out of this development both roads would be
gridlocked by construction traffic and incidents/accidents are a certainty. 130 houses with
two cars per house would add 300 cars on this road every day.
The proposed access onto the A605 is very badly sited and likely to cause chaos between
8 and 9am and should be re-sited to the south, some distance from Alwalton village
Object to the installation of traffic lights at the junction to the village.
Traffic lights were erected at the second roundabout after the Showground and proved
disastrous and removed. At present the traffic feeds in well from Oundle Road and the A1.
Traffic lights will grid lock the road completely. The flow of traffic through Alwalton village
should not be adversely affected by this proposal.
The council should make the developer aware that the remodelling of the junction is
incredibly unpopular with residents. The Council trying to sell it as an improvement but no
one is buying that and there seems to be a general acceptable that the traffic issues will be
significantly worse. Access via Joseph Odam Way would seem to resolve most of the
issues and whilst we cannot force you (the Council) to do this, may we at least ask that you
consider this option and if not explain to us why not.
If this proposed development were to go ahead with access off the A605, common sense
and experience says that most of the traffic in the morning would be turning right onto the
A605 towards Peterborough. It is a fact that turning right is a dangerous manoeuvre and the
cause of many serious accidents.
If as suggested, there are traffic lights at the Alwalton village junction how would this work
on the A605. Traffic would be either be queuing at the red light and therefore not willing to
let motorists in or dashing through the green light and again unwilling to let other cars into
the queue. This would also be the case for traffic existing the A1 south and passing through
Alwalton. Again, it will be the same for villagers in Alwalton leaving Church Street or Royce
Road. Why should villagers of Alwalton encounter problems because of this proposed
development.
We wonder how many of the motorists passing through Alwalton or travelling along the
A605 in the morning know about the proposed traffic lights which will only increase their
journey times.
If lights are needed anywhere, it is at the entrance to the proposed development site to
allow motorists to exit safely.
The proposed traffic lights will adversely impact on the properties on the south side of
Oundle Road between Arena Drive and the Alwalton bus stop and in particular will be
dangerous for the property immediately opposite the proposed lights. For these reasons
alone the proposed remodelling of the junction should not be allowed to proceed.
Access into the site should be via the south west corner of the Showground onto Joseph
Odam Way. The A605 is a busy road and the access involves right turns in both directions
across two lanes of fast moving traffic which would clearly be dangerous.
The existing traffic queues as a result of the Lynchwood development. The potential to
improve access into Lynchwood should be considered first before any decisions are taken
about the signalisation of the Alwalton junction. Works here would have a far greater
benefit.
Public transport is limited and as there is to be social housing on site possibly this can be
improved to the benefit of all.
In the morning exiting Arena Drive by car onto Oundle Road can take up to 20 minutes due
to the volume of traffic. Most of the rest of the time traffic is fairly light.
Will the existing 50mph be retained on Oundle Road?
It is intended to make the entrance/exit of the development on the Oundle Road
approximately opposite the bus stop. Believe that this would not be reasonable on safety
grounds. Despite the current 50mph limit traffic is often moving much faster.
There are likely to be many additional visits to Alwalton by foot. To assist with this
engineering works should be done to the junction of Oundle Road with Alwalton to slow
traffic, erect speed advisory signs and the speed limit of Oundle Road reduced. There

21













should also be suitable bollards to prevent parking on verges.
The development will clearly add to the volume of traffic entering and exiting onto/from the
A1 via Alwalton and Chesterton. Doing so is already hazardous, especially at peak times,
due to the lack of length/width of some of the slip roads. Please advise what plans there are
to improve the safety of doing so. It seems that the traffic using these entrances/exits has
increased substantially over the last15 years and the introduction of more housing is only
going to make this worse.
Consider that the development would have an adverse impact upon the A1, especially in
conjunction with application 15/01431/OUT for 600 houses. Would question the validity of
the trip data and survey information. There are regular queues on the A1, especially
between 7.30am and 9.30am and 4pm to 6.30pm.
There are queues on the A1 ever time there is a show. A journey to town that normally
takes 15 minutes then takes an hour. Who is going to start paying for lost time and I am a
consultant. Can someone send me the form to complete for loss of business due to being
delayed unreasonably by poor traffic management and supervising the road system. The
A1 and complete traffic coordination need to be investigated thoroughly and developments
need to implement improvements before site such as this are developed not after. The
development should be refused on the grounds of inadequate traffic management study
and information presented with major infrastructure improvements. The southern slip of the
A1 should be closed off as a condition if permission is granted in the interests of highway
safety.
The proposed measures are not acceptable and will not deal with the amount of traffic for
130 units. The best option is for the road between Alwalton and the next two roundabouts
to the business park to be widened to allow two lanes on the approach to Peterborough.
The business park single file traffic approach is already unacceptable and should be
improved using developer’s contributions and CIL contributions. Peterborough is growing
but no one is asking the developers to upgrade the road system which is already up to
capacity in areas such as the Oundle Road business park.
Request that this with other large scale developments proposed at Hampton be considered
as one when looking at the traffic impacts as the knock on effect from one area to another
is very noticeable.
Foresee major issues with emergency vehicle access.
Pedestrian crossing on Oundle Road from these 130 houses are accidents waiting to
happen. Any accidents will be the direct result of greed from these involved who will benefit
financially from this deal.

Conservation
 Object to the application as the owners of a grade II listed building. To have dwellings all
around the property will affect its setting and value. The main concern is the proximity of the
new housing and the amount of trees shown for removal. Currently have palisade fencing
either side of property through the woodland. Ask that this remain if the development goes
ahead as it protects wildlife and prevents the woodland from becoming a play area or it
being used as a cut through.
 Traffic lights would adversely impact upon the Alwalton Conservation Area. There are a
number of properties in excess of 200 years old close to the entrance to the site which
would be adversely affected but these are not referenced in the application.
Amenity
 Block B is shown as extending very close to our home and we are concerned about loss of
privacy and enjoyment of light and seclusion. There is a triangle of green area with wellestablished trees adjacent to our property. At the meeting in Alwalton village we were told
that this was an area of green belt and could not be built on.
 At present we enjoy natural light and most of the sun although this is sometimes obscured
by the trees. This is better than a view of multiple houses. Reference is made to enhanced
landscaping which would be welcomed.
 Residents of the proposed development will have to suffer the incredible noise pollution

22



from the Showground. The blaring of ‘air horns’ during truck fest, the deafening noise of the
screaming engines during motor rallies etc.
Would not like to see any pedestrian/cycle access or other access to the front of Arena
Drive as this would have potential security/litter issues. At present the gate is locked and
secure.

Ecology/Trees
 Concerned that if planning permission is granted retained trees could be removed within 4
years. Don’t want to live in fear of finding the trees removed. Ideally would want
reassurance that the trees will not be cut down and that this land will not be built on in the
future to keep the landscaping in tune with the village.
 Do not agree with several of the findings of the wildlife report. Bats are residing in bat boxes
installed several years ago. There are red kite, squirrels and a family of badgers. Have a
pond where newts were found.
 It is important that the existing tree belt adjacent to Oundle Road is maintained. In addition
there are gaps along the road and these should be improved with additional planting.
 Are losing what little green areas we have around Peterborough. The trees planted around
the new housing development recently built at the entrance to the Showground and lining
Oundle Road were put there as a condition. These trees shield the view and reduce the
noise coming from the Showground.
Air Quality
 Concerned about air pollution from queuing cars and construction traffic. Already suffer
from fumes during commuting times.
Consultation/Application Submission
 There has been no prior consultation concerning traffic deployment re the ingress and
egress for the 130 units.
 There are a number of inaccuracies within the planning submission relating to the location
of the site and the description of existing properties in Alwalton. Believe there is confusion
between Oundle Road Peterborough and Oundle Road Alwalton leading to confusion about
where the traffic lights are going.
 Have not received written communication on the application, were advised by neighbours.
 Few people received letters most people have heard about the development through word
of mouth.
Other Matters
 Have fire safety concerns for insurance purposes as property is thatch.
 Alwalton is a small conservation village but by increasing the homes to almost the same
size will cause increased pressure on the few facilities it has.
 There are insufficient local facilities already.
 When we bought our house in 2013 the conveyancing solicitor advised that there was a
flood risk nearby and we were sent a map which shows the area at risk is in the middle of
the proposed development. Please can you confirm why this has now vanished or will it not
just be moved.
 What buffer zone is to be provided?
 No consideration has been given to schools. The nearest are Orton Wistow and Matley
which are now full to capacity.
 Funds should be secured to improve the capacity of the village hall and playing fields.
 The Alwalton sewerage system is currently struggling to cope.
 Have contacted Cambridgeshire County Council and Huntingdonshire District Council. They
do not appear to be aware of the plans.
 Royal Mail is going to have a problem with the post codes.
A letter of objection has been received from Councillor Rita Matthews who is a District Councillor
for Alwalton. She has commented as follows:-

23

The understanding I have is that while a small development is not objected to in principle, the
number of homes planned and the entrance/exit to the site, being on the main Oundle Road would
be a safety hazard. At present, there are a number of issues both with Alwalton and Chesterton,
with the speed of traffic along the road which in turns causes issues with entering and exiting the
villages. To add more traffic, possibly an increase of 200-300 more cars, in the busy period, could
become an extra danger. Siting the entrance and exit of the development where the roundabout is
would at least mitigate against problems in the future. The nearness of the A1 slip road appears to
cause a speeding problem even with 50mph signs. If the new homeowners wish to visit the
shop/post office it would be necessary/beneficial to have a road safety crossing from the site to
Alwalton to prevent accidents.
Alwalton is a small conservation village but by increasing the homes to almost the same size will
cause increased pressure on the few facilities that it has i.e. the small shop/post office, the playing
field and park for walkers, the shop and the pub. This impact could possibly be mitigated by S106
monies which could be used in the village via Huntingdonshire District Council.
Public Meeting
At the request of Alwalton Parish Council planning and highway officers attended a public meeting
at Alwalton village hall on the evening of the 11 April 2016. The meeting was attended by
approximately 60 people from the local area. Officers presented an over view of the scheme and
then there was a question and answer session. The main comments/feedback from the meeting
are summarised below: With the exception of people living on Arena Drive residents were of the view that the site
should be accessed off Joseph Odam Way and that the developer should be made to look
at this as an option as a requirement of obtaining planning permission.
 The residents do not want the signalisation of the junction into the village of Alwalton. They
were of the view that the requirements of Highways England were being prioritised over
and above everything else to the detriment of all the residents who would have to see and
live with the signalisation.
 Residents explained that at present the traffic filters through the village from the A1 onto the
Oundle Road within Peterborough and that this will not happen with the lights. They were
therefore of the view that the existing situation would be made worse and could not
understand what benefits the lights would have. A number of residents commented that
they will be a waste of money.
 Concerns where expressed that if a number of cars wish to turn right from Alwalton village
at the lights then these will cause a bottle neck and block the flow of cars travelling existing
left.
 Concerns were expressed about the potential increase in queues towards the village of
Chesterton which would adversely impact upon residents there.
 It was suggested that the slip road off the A1 through the village of Alwalton should be
closed so that all of the traffic has to access Lynchwood via Fletton Parkway.
 The Local Highway Authority advised at the meeting that it is investigating the possibility of
putting a left turn lane in at the Lynchwood roundabout to help the flow of traffic. Residents
were of the view that this should be fully investigated/implemented before consideration is
given to the signalisation of the junction into the village of Alwalton. Works to this
roundabout would be more beneficial and there would not be an adverse impact upon the
village.
 It was mentioned that the Wistow roundabout has previously been signalised and that there
lights were subsequently removed.
 It was queried whether the impact of additional businesses moving into Lynchwood has
been considered as this will make the traffic queues worse.
 It was also queried whether the traffic impacts of the proposed 610 scheme off junction 17
has of the A1(M) has been taken into consideration.
 Concerns were expressed about the new access and the ability of vehicles to exit the site
right towards Peterborough safely along with concerns about the number of additional

24








5

vehicles using the adjacent stretch of Oundle Road as a result of the development.
Some residents queried the point of the meeting if they scheme was not going to be
changed as a result.
A resident raised concerns about access for big lorries onto the A1 and whether this would
still be feasible.
Residents asked whether the existing night time weight limit through the village could be
extended to the day time also.
Residents commented that there is insufficient visibility to one of the uncontrolled crossing
points through the village.
Residents queried what is happening with the relocation of the bus stops.
Concerns were raised about how construction traffic would access the site and whether the
existing routes within the Showground could be used for this purpose.
It was queried what impact events at the Showground have on traffic flows and how these
are handled.
Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:








The Principle of Development
Highway Impacts
Impact on Listed Buildings/ Alwalton Conservation Area
Amenity
Ecological/Landscape Impacts
Drainage
Other Matters i.e. archaeology, contamination, air quality
S106

1. The Principle of Development
As indicated under Section 1 this is an outline application for up to 130 dwellings with only the
principle of access being established at this stage.
As also indicated the site is allocated for residential development under policy SA3 of the adopted
Site Allocations DPD (reference SA3.30 refers). This allocation establishes the principle of putting
houses on this site.
The allocation is for approximately 210 dwellings. Whilst the number of houses proposed by this
application would be below the allocated number, the figure in the Site Allocations DPD is
indicative only and does not fully take into account all the site constraints. Having reviewed the
technical reports and the illustrative layout the number of units proposed is considered to be
suitable, rather than the higher number referred to in the policy.
Policy SA8 of the adopted Site Allocations DPD sets out that certain sites should include a
‘reasonable proportion’ of prestige homes. The policy does not state what a ‘reasonable proportion’
is nor does it provide a definition of ‘prestige homes’ but goes onto state that these can generally
be regarded as being at the higher end of the market in terms of value, large and individually
designed. Houses should be aimed at the senior/professional managerial market. This is an outline
application so the final layout of the site is not set at this stage. However, there is considered to be
scope, on the basis of the illustrative layout, to accommodate a number of prestige units and
further justification for the approval of a housing number below that specified in policy SA3.
Policy CS8 of the adopted site allocations DPD requires the provision of 30% affordable housing
on developments over 14 units along with the provision of 20% life time homes and 2% wheelchair
housing. The application proposes 30% affordable housing in accordance with policy CS8 which
will be secured through a S106 Agreement. The provision of life time homes and wheelchair
houses can be secured via a condition.

25

The principle of development is therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy
SA3 and SA8 of the adopted Site Allocations DPD and policy CS8 of the adopted Core Strategy.
Representations
Officers from Huntingdonshire District Council have commented that they have policy concerns as
the site is outside of the built up area and therefore inconsistent with settlement policies. They
have also commented that if the development proceeds it will change the perception of the village
of Alwalton. As indicated above, the site is within the urban area boundary and is allocated for
development. The proposal is not, therefore, contrary to any settlement polices. Whilst the
comment about a change in character of Alwalton village is noted, any potential impact was
accepted in principle with the allocation of the site, which was carried out in accordance with due
process including examination of the Site Allocations document by an independent Planning
Inspector and the allocation is actually for more houses than proposed by this application.
A number of the neighbour representations received have queried the need to develop this site or
have said it should not come forward until other allocated or brownfield sites have been developed.
Other comments raise a concern that the site will ‘overwhelm’ the village of Alwalton. Whilst these
comments are noted as already set out, the site is allocated for development and there is no policy
within the Development Framework Plan which requires this site to be held back until other sites
are developed. The application could not therefore be resisted on this basis. In terms of the
relationship with the village of Alwalton and as set out above, the decision to build houses in this
location next to the village has already been made with the adoption of the Site Allocations DPD
and as indicated, the allocation is actually for a greater number of houses.
With regard to the comment about the review of the Local Plan, the application site is included
within the Councils 5 year housing land supply calculations and as it is the subject of a current
application there is no reason to de-allocate it.
Some concerns have been raised regarding the impact which this development will have in terms
of pressures on existing services and that there are already insufficient facilities. Whilst these
concerns are noted the site is allocated for development so the principle of locating development
here is established. The application will make a payment toward local infrastructure under the
Council’s Infrastructure Levy charge (CIL) (see further below).
Objectors have commented that the level of infrastructure proposed indicates an intention to apply
for further development or that the level of housing could rise. Whilst these concerns are noted any
further application would have to be considered on its merits at the time of submission in the
context of the relevant planning policy. The potential for future applications cannot be taken into
account when determining this application. If a developer subsequently wanted to increase the
number of houses (beyond 130) then a new planning application would be required and this would
be assessed in the usual way.
In light of the allocated status of the site the principle of development is considered to be
established and acceptable. It cannot be revisited through this application.
2. Highways Impacts
As set out under Section 1 above Peterborough City Council is the highway body responsible for
the section of Oundle Road to the north of the site and for the junction into the village of Alwalton.
Cambridgeshire County Council are responsible for Oundle Road, beyond the site to the west and
for the roads within the village of Alwalton. Highways England are responsible for the A1.
The application is supported by a Transport Assessment. Having reviewed this, the Local Highway
Authority made a number of comments regarding the methodology used. These points have been
clarified by the applicant and the Local Highway Authority is now satisfied with the technical
assessment which has been carried out. Highways England, and Cambridgeshire County Council
have also not raised any issues with the modelling

26

As indicated under section 1 this outline application seeks to establish the principle of access into
the site. Access is proposed via Oundle Road. In association with this it is also proposed to
signalise the junction into the village of Alwalton. Concerns were raised with the applicant in
respect of the initial design of this junction in terms of its impact upon the streescene given its
scale and removal of existing green areas and an amended scheme has been submitted along
with a Stage 1 Safety Audit and Designers Response and details of the proposed signals in order
to demonstrate that they would in principle work.
The Local Highway Authority has raised no objection in principle to access to the site being via
Oundle Road. Neither has it raised any concerns about the design of the new junction into the site.
Several of the representations received in relation to the application including those from Alwalton
Parish Council, Orton Longville Parish Council and the feedback from the majority of residents at
the public meeting was that there should be no access from Oundle Road and that access to the
site should be via Joseph Odam Way. Whilst these comments are noted, the application has to be
determined on the basis of what is proposed and that is access from Oundle Road. If the proposed
access is acceptable in highway terms then Local Planning and Highway Authorities cannot
reasonably require that the developer look at significantly different alternative solutions even if
there is objection to the proposal.
The applicant has been made aware of the comments from the objectors regarding the alternative
access route. They have replied that access via Joseph Odam Way would require access to be
taken outside of the allocated site. This access is also the main route into the Showground itself
and it would not be desirable to have a shared access, particularly given the potential conflicts
when there are functions or events on. In addition, the applicant has commented that the existing
road is not constructed or built to adoptable standards. The road would have to be brought up to
adoptable standards if it were to serve the proposed development.
The requirement for a signalised junction at the entrance to the village of Alwalton has been
discussed in detail with the applicant and Highways England. Highways England has raised no
objection to the scheme subject to a condition requiring that the signalisation of the junction be
carried out before the occupation of the first house. It has also advised that a condition should be
imposed requiring the monitoring of the left turn arm which will not be signalised and the future
signalisation of this arm if it is subsequently required in the future (if a requirement for this is
identified through the modelling).
Officers have reviewed the requirement for the signals and asked Highways England whether the
scheme could proceed without them. Highways England confirmed that in its view a signalised
junction is required in order to support the flow of traffic through the village of Alwalton and onto the
A605 Oundle Road. Without the signalisation of the junction it advised that it would object to the
application on highway safety grounds as there would be an adverse impact in terms of queuing
onto the A1.
Whilst Highways England no longer has the same planning powers as it used to i.e. it used to be
able to ‘direct’ local authorities to proceed in accordance with its advice, in light of the comments it
has made about highway safety, Officers do not consider that they could reasonably put forward a
recommendation for approval for a scheme which did not include the signalised junction.
If Members were to recommend approval of the application without a signalised junction then the
Secretary of State would need to be informed and he would have the ability to ‘call in’ the
application for his own determination.
Following the response from Highways England the applicant was, however, asked to look further
at the design of the junction in order to try and reduce its impacts. The amended design reduces
the scale of the junction overall, allows the retention of the existing grassed bank and trees on the
east side (when looking from the application site) of the junction and create new areas of green

27

verge. The amended junction design has been subject to an updated safety audit and tracking has
also been carried out to ensure that large vehicles can turn.
No objections to the amended junction design have been received from Highways England or the
Local Highway Authority. Cambridgeshire County Council has also now removed its holding
objection to the scheme following the assessment which has been carried out. Neither has it raised
any objections to the proposed changes to road markings etc within the village of Alwalton itself.
Response to Representations
A number of the representations received including those from Orton Waterville Parish Council,
Alwalton Parish Council and the comments from the public meeting is that access should be
provided via Joseph Odam Way and have been responded to above.
General concerns have been made about the overall increase in traffic which the development
would result in. Whilst these concerns are noted, as set out above, the site is allocated for housing
development. As such the principle of putting additional housing in this location is established. The
traffic impacts of the development have been assessed in the Transport Assessment and found to
be acceptable. The routing and timing of deliveries to the site will need to be considered as part of
the Construction Management Plan which will be secured via a condition.
A number of the representations have commented on the design of the signalised junction, raising
concerns about that impact that this will have upon traffic flows through the village. Residents are
of the view that the traffic signalise will interfere with the current free flow of traffic through the
village to the detriment of the people living there. They are also concerned that the flow of traffic
from the A1 has been prioritised above all else.
As set out above the requirement for the signalised junction has been reviewed by Highway
England which has confirmed that it requires the signalisation of the junction in order to ensure no
highway safety issue on the A1. Notwithstanding the concerns raised Highways England is of the
view that the signalisation of this junction will maintain the flow of traffic through the village. Whilst
the concerns about the flow of traffic from the A1 being prioritised above all else are noted, the A1
is part of the strategic road network and does therefore carry the greatest weight in terms of
considering the impacts of this application. One of the objections has commented that the new
signalise arrangement would not be safe. However, the design has been subject to a Stage 1
Safety Audit and Designers Response. This has not raised any significant issues which would
mean the signalisation could not be carried out. Further more detailed safety audits would be
carried out through the technical assessment process before any signals were installed if planning
permission is granted for the scheme.
Some objectors have commented that the location of the access into the site should be moved
further west along the frontage of the site away from the junction and that this should be signalised.
Some concerns have also been raised regarding the proximity of the site access to the bus stop.
The Local Highway Authority has not raised any concerns about the access design and it does not
consider the proximity of the junction to the bus stop to be unsafe. The suggested relocation of the
site access further west would not negate the need to signalise the Oundle Road Alwalton village
junction.
Concerns have been raised that the number of homes planned and the entrance/exit onto Oundle
Road would be a safety hazard, particularly as at present there are issues of speeding in both
Chesterton and Alwalton which will be exacerbated by this development. Whilst these concerns are
noted no issues have been raised in principle by the Local Highway Authority. It will need to review
the speed limits along this section of road if the development proceeds and has indicated that
these will be reduced.
Alwalton Parish Council along with a number of the objectors and the feedback from the public
meeting, have commented that the major pinch point on the Oundle Road is the roundabout at the
entrance to Lynch Wood, Minerva and the Marriot Hotel. It has suggested that emphasis should be

28

placed upon improving the traffic flow through this roundabout especially with the relocation of
Thomas Cook. Whilst these concerns are noted as indicated above the application has been the
subject of a Transport Assessment. This does not raise any concerns regarding this roundabout as
a result of the development. This development cannot be used to seek a solution to an existing
problem unless it is demonstrated that it would make it substantially worse which is not the case
here. The Local Highway Authority has not raised any issues in respect of this roundabout resulting
from the development of this site.
Outside of the parameters of this application the Local Highway Authority has confirmed that it is
exploring options to improve the flow of traffic at this location via the introduction of a left turn lane.
Residents at the public meeting suggested that works to this roundabout should be done first and
the requirement for the signals into the village reviewed. Whilst these comments are noted as the
development itself does not give rise to the need to improve this junction it has to be investigated
separately and the Local Planning Authority could not reasonably refuse to determine the
application until such time as works had been carried out to this junction in light of the traffic
modelling.
Similarly it has been suggested that the road between Alwalton and the next two roundabouts to
the business park should be widened to allow two lanes on the approach to Peterborough. As set
out above, this development cannot be used to resolve an existing problem and the Transport
Assessment does not show a requirement for works in connection with this development. The
improvement options which the Local Highway Authority will consider will in due course determine
if this would be an appropriate option.
A number of the representations have raised concerns about increased traffic along Oundle Road
as a result of the development, particularly when there are events on at the Showground. As an
allocated site, however, this decision has already been taken in principle and as indicated the
number of houses for which outline permission is sought is less than the allocation. The applicant
cannot as part of this application be required to put in place measures to deal with an existing
situation such as the level of traffic and any associated traffic congestion when there are events on
at the Showground. The owners of the Showground put a number of measures in place when there
are events on (the measures depend upon the scale) and it would not be reasonable to consider
the application on the basis of such events as they do not reflect normal traffic flows. People
cannot reasonable be compensated for loss of time due to journeys taking longer.
One of the representations has commented that public transport is limited and queries whether this
could be improved to the benefit of all. This development is not of a size/scale whereby public
transport provision could be specifically required. Financial contributions will be made under the
Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) scheme. The existing bus stops will be replaced as
part of the off site highway works. At the public meeting the location of the bus stops was also
queried. However, having reviewed the scheme the Local Highway Authority considers these to be
appropriately located.
Some of the representations raise concerns about the impact of development and another
proposal for 610 houses on land to the south of junction 17, in terms of queues on the A1(M) and
the amount of which will enter onto and exit from the A1, especially during peak times. As already
set out Highway England has raised no objection to this development and it has not requested any
off site highway works other than signalisation of the Alwalton village junction. The scheme as
submitted is therefore considered acceptable. The impact of the other scheme has been
considered separately under that application although it should be noted that Highways England
have raised no objections to this development either.
It has been commented that if the new home owners wish to visit the shop/post office it would be
necessary/beneficial to have a road safety crossing from the site to Alwalton to prevent accidents.
The new signalised junction will include a pedestrianized crossing which will allow safe crossing of
the road.

29

At the public meeting it was suggested that the slip road off the A1 through the village of Alwalton
should be closed so that all of the traffic has to access Lynchwood via Fletton Parkway. This has
also been raised by one of the other objectors in light of the queues which currently occur on the
A1. Queries where also raised at the public meeting in respect of the weight limit through the
village and the location of one of the uncontrolled crossing points.
As set out above the Local Planning Authority has to determine the application as it stands.
However an initial comment has been sought from Highways England regarding the closure of the
slip road off the A1. It has advised that at the current time there is no reason why Highways
England would want to close the slip roads. There have to date been no major accidents in the
area which would cause Highways England to review this position. Closure of this slip road would
also limit access to the area and potentially cause issues at other junctions further along the A1. Its
aim is to keep traffic flowing on the strategic road network to ensure reliable journey times.
With regard to the weight limits through the village this is outside the scope of the current
application and a matter for Cambridgeshire County Council to take a view on. The comment about
the visibility from one of the uncontrolled crossing points is noted. This will be reviewed through the
more detailed safety audit process and adjusted if appropriate.
It was commented at the public meeting that lights were put in briefly at the Orton Wistow
roundabout and then removed. Officers are not aware of this but will make enquires in advance of
Committee to clarify.
Other Highway Matters
The Local Highway Authority has advised that a new footpath/cycleway link should be provided on
the south side of Oundle Road from the site access to the Joseph Odam Way roundabout in order
to provide a good walking connection. Following discussion the applicant has agreed to provide
this. The initial section of the footway is shown on the amended junction plan albeit that it needs to
be widened to 3 meters to also be a cycleway. Implementation of the footpath/cycleway link can be
secured by a condition.
One of the representations has commented that a footpath link along the south side of Oundle
Road would not be desirable as it would result in an increased risk of crime and litter. This view is
not agreed with, and there is no reason why this should be the case. The footpath/cycleway link
will not pass through Arena Drive rather along the edge of it and will improve the sustainability of
the site by improving walking and cycling links.
Summary
The traffic concerns in respect of this development are noted. However, the application has to be
considered on the basis of what is proposed which is access from Oundle Road. The need to
signalise the junction into the village of Alwalton has been reviewed but Highways England has
advised that the signals are required in the interests of highway safety in order to prevent queuing
back onto the A1. Without the signals it would object to the application. In light of this response the
junction design has been amended in order to reduce its impact and improve its appearance.
Having considered all of the above and subject to conditions the highway impacts on the
development are considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy PP12 of the adopted
Planning Policies DPD.
3. Impact on Listed Buildings/Alwalton Conservation Area
Impact Upon No 5/7 Oundle Road
This property which used to be two cottages dates from the 17 century and is grade II listed. The
development would sit to the east, south and west of the property. The cottages would have
originally backed onto open farmland. The trees which surround it are a later addition. The

30

proposed illustrative layout shows lower density development adjacent to the building along with an
area of open space. Whilst it is acknowledged that the layout is illustrative and that the
development will change the setting of this listed building, it is considered that an acceptable
relationship can in principle be achieved. Any harm would be less than substantial and would be
outweighed by the benefits of the development, chiefly the provision of housing to meet the
identified housing needs in the area. The Council’s Conservation Officer has raised no objection to
the development on this basis. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that its setting is
protected a condition requiring the detailed layout to broadly accord with the layout principles on
the illustrative plan is recommended.
The impact of the changes to the junction including its signalisation, upon this listed building also
has been considered. Whilst not signalised the existing junction is very big and the proposed
scheme will reduce its overall scale which has a conservation benefit. The traffic lights would be
positioned close to but not directly outside of this property. It is acknowledged that the lights will
have some impact upon the setting of this listed building but traffic lights are not an unusual feature
in the streetscene and as set out above are required by Highway England to make the scheme
acceptable. It is considered that the harm which would result to this building is less than substantial
and the harm is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme, chiefly the delivery of housing and the
provision of a safe highway network.
The scheme is therefore considered to be in accordance with the provisions of section 66 of the
Town and Country Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990, the provisions of
the National Planning Policy Framework, policy CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy
CS17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
The occupier of this property has commented that the proposal will reduce his property value.
Whilst this concern is noted, loss of property value is not a material planning consideration and
cannot therefore be taken into consideration.
Impact Upon the Alwalton Conservation Area/ on Listed Buildings
As set under section 1, Alwalton village has a Conservation Area including the frontage to the
entrance of the village. Within the Conservation Area are a number of listed buildings. Concerns
were raised with the applicant in respect of the original junction design which looked very
engineered and would have resulted in the loss of the existing bank and trees to the east of the
junction entrance (when viewed from the application site). It was considered that there would be an
adverse impact on the setting of the Conservation Area including adjacent listed buildings.
Following the concerns which were raised the applicant has adjusted the design of the junction to
reduce its size. This allows for the retention of the existing bank and trees and a ‘green’ approach
into the village with new verge being created. As set out above the signalisation of the junction of
Alwalton village is required by Highways England to address its concerns about potential queuing
back onto the A1(M) and this has to be balanced with the impact upon the Conservation Area
including the listed buildings within it, as required by the National Planning Policy Framework. It is
considered that the signalisation of the junction will have some impact upon the Conservation Area
and the listed buildings but that with the amended junction design the level of harm would be less
than substantial and that the degree of harm is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme as it will
enable an allocated housing site to come forward and alleviate a highway safety issue on the A1.
The impact of the development is therefore considered to be acceptable in accordance with
sections 66 and 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act
1990, the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework, policy CS17 of the adopted Core
Strategy and policy CS17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
4. Amenity
Impact Upon Existing Residents
Although the layout is illustrative at this stage it is considered that it does show that an acceptable
relationship to the neighbouring properties can in principle be achieved. The relationship to No 5/7

31

Oundle Road has been considered in more detail above.
One of the neighbours has commented that block B is shown as extending close to their home and
they are concerned about loss of privacy, enjoyment of light and seclusion. They have gone onto
comment that they were told at the Alwalton meeting held by the developer that one of the green
areas was green belt and could not be built on. It is not clear where block B is as there are no
numbers on the illustrative plan which has been submitted. However, as set out above it is
considered that a satisfactory relationship can in principle be achieved. Peterborough does not
have any green belt and the site is allocated.
In order to protect the amenity of adjacent residents during the construction period a condition
requiring the submission and approval of a Construction Management Plan is recommended.
In principle therefore it is considered that the development can accord with policy PP3 of the
adopted Planning Polices DPD.
Amenity of the New Development
Having reviewed the illustrative layout it is considered that the site can be laid out in such a way as
to provide the future occupiers with a satisfactory level of amenity in terms of factors such as
daylight, sunlight and privacy. Rear access will be needed to all properties to ensure that there can
store bins and bikes. Any flats will require designated bin and bike stores. This will be addressed at
the detailed design stage.
The Council’s Conservation Officer has commented that the illustrative layout seems to miss a
focal point to the west and that the main view would be of the A1. This comment is noted and will
be reviewed at the detailed design stage but in principle as referred to above, it is considered that
an acceptable relationship can be achieved.
Noise
The application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment. This sets out that the main noise sources
affecting the site are traffic noise from the A1 and noise from the adjacent Little Chief Restaurant.
The illustrative layout shows open space adjacent to the A1 and housing from the road set back
some 50 metres from it. Having assessed the noise sources the Noise Assessment sets out a
range of mitigation measures including specific glazing specifications, ventilation requirements and
boundary treatment details.
Having reviewed the Noise Assessment the Council’s Environmental Health Section has raised no
objections to the development of the site in principle although it has commented that ‘whole house’
ventilation systems are likely to be required rather than the specification referred to in the Noise
Assessment. They have also commented that consideration should be given to the layout of the
houses closest to the noise sources to place habitable rooms away from the noise source.
In principle, therefore, it is considered that a satisfactory noise environment can be secured for the
future occupiers. As such planning permission can be granted. An updated Noise Assessment can
be secured by condition as part of the reserved matters submission as the layout comes forward.
Open Space
The illustrative site layout shows approximately 5672 square metres of open space (4000 square
metres adjacent to the A1 and 1672 square metres to the rear of 5/7 Oundle Road). Policy PP14 of
the adopted Planning Policies DPD sets out a requirement for 1.2ha of open space. Whilst the
amount of open space proposed is less than required by policy it is considered to be acceptable
and it will be usable open space. Furthermore, the open space requirements of policy PP14 are
very high and this development is already proposing significantly less dwellings than the allocation.
Given the location of the site it is considered that on site provision should be made for play. This
can be secured via a condition.

32

The development is therefore considered to accord with policy PP4 of the adopted Planning
Policies DPD.
Representations
One of the representations received has commented on noise from the Showground and the
impact that this will have upon neighbour amenity. Whilst these comments are noted the site is
allocated for housing so the principle of residential development in this location is established. The
relationship which would be created will be the same or very similar to the other adjacent
properties which already exist and people will purchase the houses knowing that the Showground
is located to the south of the site. No specific concerns in this respect have been raised by the
Council’s Environmental Health Officer.
5. Ecological/ Landscape Impacts
Landscape Impacts
The application is accompanied by a tree survey albeit that this hasn’t then been assessed against
the site layout. The illustrative layout indicates the removal of a number of trees within the site
including some of the tree belt around 5/7 Oundle Road with planting around the edge of the site
being retained. The Council’s Tree Officer has raised no objection to some tree loss in principle,
including that around 5/7 Oundle Road given is condition. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment will
need to be submitted at the detailed design stage to allow further assessment. This can be
required by a condition.
The Council’s Tree Officer has commented that the trees in group B cast a long shade pattern and
that garden positions should therefore be reviewed. This comment is noted and will be part of the
layout assessment at the detailed design stage.
Neighbour Representations
One of the neighbours has commented that they are concerned that although the trees are shown
as retained they could be removed within four years and not replaced. Whilst this concern is noted
this is no different from any other development site. There is, however, no reason to expect that
trees will be removed around the edge of the site if they are shown as retained.
Another representation has commented that the existing tree belt along Oundle Road should be
retained and enhanced. This will be a matter for the detailed site layout.
Ecological Impacts
Natural England has advised that it does not consider that there would be any adverse impact
upon Castor Flood Meadows SSSI. It does not therefore consider the SSSI to be a constraint to
development.
The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. Having reviewed this the
Council’s Wildlife Officer notes that the site has some potential. Whilst a full reptile survey is not
required a precautionary approach should be taken. A condition requiring the undertaking of a
‘destructive search’ during the active reptile season (March to September) is therefore
recommended.
With regard to bats, the Wildlife Officer notes that no evidence of bats was found. It is
recommended that lighting is designed to avoid disturbance, that bat roosting features be
incorporated into the development and any works affecting trees as having bat roosting potential
shall be undertaken under the supervision of an experienced bat worker in case bats have taken
up residents in the meantime. Conditions to address these matters along with the provision of
nesting boxes for birds is recommended.
With regard to hedgehogs the Ecological Appraisal concludes that potential nesting features
should be hand searched prior to site clearance and the clearance of such areas avoided on frosty
days when hedgehogs hibernate. In addition gaps should be provided in any new fencing so the

33

impenetrable barriers are avoided. These matters can be covered by conditions.
The Ecological Appraisal has identified a badger sett adjacent to the site. All trenches should,
therefore, be covered at night or a means of escape provided. If at the detailed design stage
development is proposed closer to the sett then additional measures will be required. These
recommendations can be secured by conditions.
It is considered that the above can reasonably be addressed via conditions on the outline planning
permission.
Neighbour Representations
One of the neighbours has commented that the existing fencing through the tree belt around No
5/7 Oundle Road should be retained to protect wildlife and also to be prevent the tree belt being
used as a cut through. Whilst this comment is noted, it is a detailed design matter to be considered
at the next stage. The resident has also challenged the findings of the Ecological Report stating
that there are bats in bat boxes, red kites, squirrels and a family of badgers within the site/wooded
area. He also has a pond with newts in it.
These comments have been discussed with the Council’s Wildlife Officer. He has advised that he
has discussed the findings of the ecological report with the applicant’s ecologist and is content with
its findings. It should also be noted that newts are not a protected species.
Subject to conditions, it is considered that the development will accord with policy PP16 of the
adopted Planning Policies DPD.
6. Drainage
Flood Risk/Surface Water Drainage
The application is located in Flood Zone 1 and supported by a Drainage Strategy. The Councils
Drainage Team initially raised concerns about the scheme as it did not comply with SuDS
principles. Highways England also advised that it would not accept a connection from this site into
its drainage network.
Following these responses the scheme has been amended and further discussion has taken place.
Having reviewed the amended Drainage Strategy the Drainage Team has advised that it is now
acceptable and has removed its objection. Highways England has also now confirmed that it has
no objection to the Drainage Strategy or the connection as the drain adjacent to the A1 is a carrier
drain.
Foul Drainage
With regard to foul drainage Anglian Water has commented that Flag Fen Water Recycling Centre
does not have capacity to treat flows from the development. It is obliged to accept the foul flows
from the site if planning permission is granted and will take the necessary steps to ensure that
there is sufficient treatment capacity if planning permission is granted. It has requested the
imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of a scheme of foul drainage. This
is reasonable and will be appended.
The Environment Agency has raised no objection subject to the imposition of a condition regarding
foul drainage.
Neighbour Representation
One of the neighbours has made a comment about flood risk and the fact the plans they received
during their house purchase showed it flooding. The site is allocated for development and would
not have been if it were at significant risk of flooding. Surface water flooding potential can be
addressed via the drainage scheme. As indicated above the Council’s Drainage Team has raised
no concerns.

34

Another representation has commented that the sewerage system is struggling to cope. However
as indicated no objections have been received from Anglian Water and the site is allocated for
development.
Subject to conditions it is considered that the development will accord with policy CS22 of the
adopted Core Strategy.
7. Other Matters
a) Contamination
Given that this is a greenfield site there should not be any significant contamination. A condition
requiring the reporting of any unsuspected contamination is recommended.
b) Archaeology
Archaeological investigation of the site has been carried out and the reports submitted. The
Council’s Archaeologist has therefore advised that no further assessment is required.
c) Fire
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service has advised that adequate provision should be made for
fire hydrants through the S106 or conditions. The provision of fire hydrants is dealt with other
legislation and it is not therefore considered necessary to secure this as part of the planning
process.
d) Air Quality
The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment. This assesses the impact of the
development during both the construction and operational phases. It is considered that any
impacts during the construction phase can be reasonably dealt with via the Construction
Management Plan. With regard to the operational phase it concludes that development complies
with national, regional and local policy and that air quality is not therefore a significant factor in the
assessment of this scheme. Environmental Health has not commented to the contrary.
Concerns have been raised in some of the representations regarding traffic fumes but as set out
above it is not considered that the impact would be significant and this site has been allocated for
development.
e) Other Comments
Comments have been made on the accuracy of the submission information. Whilst these are
noted, many relate to how the site is described and the fact that it is in Peterborough not Alwalton,
and they do not make the submission unacceptable or prevent determination of the application.
People have also commented that they were not consulted on the application. As indicated under
section 4, additional neighbour letters have been sent out given the level of interest in this
application. This is over and above the Council’s statutory duty. The Council only need advertise
the development in the paper and display a site notice. People also do not need to have received
an individual letter to comment on the plans.
One objector has comments that Officers from Huntingdonshire District Council and
Cambridgeshire County Council are not aware of the proposals. The responses received from both
Authorities have been set out earlier in this report and commented upon.
One objector has made comments on postcodes. This is not a material planning consideration.
Comments have been made regarding the impact of the development on the ability of the
occupiers of 5/7 Thorpe Road to get insurance. Whilst the concerns are noted it is not considered
to be a matter upon which the planning application could be resisted and as indicated above a
condition will be imposed to require an offset between the new houses and 5/7 Oundle Road.

35

8. S106
As indicated above the provision of affordable housing will be secured through a S106 Agreement.
The S106 will also include the provision of Householder Information Packs and a mechanism for
the open space to be offered for adoption by the Council.
The Council has now introduced a community infrastructure levy which the development will pay.
This is to meet the infrastructure needs arising from it including for things such as school places.
Additional provision over and above the CIL payment can only be required if the development
gives rise to specific requirements. With the exception of affordable housing this development
cannot reasonably be considered to do so given its size.
One of the letters of presentation has commented that no consideration has been given to schools.
This development is too small to require on site provision and the need for school places will be
addressed through the CIL payment.
One of the letters of representation has commented that funds should be secured to improve the
capacity of the village hall and playing fields. As indicated above, the developer will make a
contribution under CIL. Additional funding could not reasonably be secured for this development
given its size and scale.
Subject to the provision of affordable housing and a payment under CIL it is considered that the
development will accord with policy CS13 of the adopted Core Strategy.
6

Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of
the development plan and specifically:
The application site is allocated for development in the adopted Site Allocations DPD. The principle
of locating housing on this site is therefore established. Subject to conditions and completion of a
S106 Agreement the development will accord with policy CS8 of the adopted Core Strategy.
Notwithstanding the concerns that have been raised the new access into the site is considered to
be acceptable in principle subject to the associated signalisation of the junction into Alwalton
village. Subject to conditions therefore, the development is considered to comply with policy PP12
of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
Subject to a condition to create a buffer around it, it is considered that an acceptable relationship
can be secured with 5-7 Oundle Road which is a listed building and that any harm caused will be
less than substantial. It is considered that the signalisation of the junction into Alwalton village will
have some impact upon the Alwalton Conservation Area which includes a number of listed
buildings but with the amended junction design this will be less than substantial. The harm to the
heritage assets is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme namely the provision of housing and a
safe highway network. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in the context of the
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework, sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed
Building and Conservation Areas) Act, policy CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP17
of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
In principle it is considered that the site can be developed without any unacceptable adverse
impact upon neighbour amenity and that it can afford the new occupiers a satisfactory level of
amenity. The proposal therefore accords with policies PP3 and PP4 of the adopted Planning
Policies DPD.
Subject to conditions the site can be adequately drained. The development therefore accords with
policy CS22 of the adopted Core Strategy DPD.

36

The application would have not any significant ecological impacts subject to conditions. The layout
can also be designed to accommodate existing on site trees. The proposal therefore accords with
policy PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
Affordable housing provision will be secured through the S106 Agreement and the development
will also pay CIL. The proposal therefore accords with policy CS13 of the adopted Core Strategy.
7

Recommendation

The case officer recommends that Outline Planning Permission is GRANTED subject to:(1)
(2)

relevant conditions and authority being delegated to Officers to make any necessary or
appropriate adjustments to these conditions including the imposition of new conditions
and
the completion of a S106 Agreement

C1 Application for approval of reserved matters namely appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale (hereinafter called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority
in writing before any development commenced and the development shall thereafter be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the development
plan and any other material considerations including national and local policy guidance.
C2 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended).
C3 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years
from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of
the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.
Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended).
C4 Not more than 130 dwellings shall be built pursuant to this outline planning permission.
Reason: In order to ensure that the development complies with the provisions of the outline
permission including the transport assessment.
C5 The plans and particulars submitted under condition 1 shall include details of the provision
to be made for life time homes/ wheel chair housing. The development shall thereafter be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to meet housing needs in accordance with policy CS8 of the adopted Core
Strategy.
C6 The plans and particulars to be submitted for reserved matters approval under condition 1
shall include an update Noise Impact Assessment based upon the reserved matters layout and
include details of proposed mitigation measures. The development shall thereafter be carried out in
accordance with the approved mitigation measures which should be installed prior to the first use
of the dwelling to which they relate.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate amenity for the future occupiers in accordance with policy
PP4 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C7 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme of bird and bat boxes including their
location and specification shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The bird and bat boxes shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved
details prior to the first occupation of the dwelling to which they relate or first use of the open space

37

as appropriate. They shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: In order promote the biodiversity enhance of the site in accordance with policy PP16 of
the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C8 Notwithstanding the submitted information a ‘destructive search’ for reptiles shall be
undertaken prior to the commencement of development during the active reptile season (March to
September). The extent of the survey shall first be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority
and the results including any appropriate mitigation measures shall thereafter be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to ensure the appropriate protection of reptiles on site in accordance with policy
PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition because the
site needs to be searched for retiles which are a protected species before development can start.
C9 If development has not commenced on site within two years from the date of this permission
then a revised ecological survey should be carried out. The scope of this survey and the
methodology should first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The results of the survey and any appropriate mitigation measures including a timetable for their
implementation shall thereafter be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details
including the mitigation measures.
Reason In order to ensure that species are protected on site in accordance with policy PP16 of the
adopted Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition because the site needs to
be searched for protected species before development can start.
C10 Any potential hedgehog nesting features should be hand searched prior to the
commencement of works on site including site clearance and the clearance of such areas avoided
on frosty days in accordance with the approved Ecological Assessment. Boundary treatment
proposals to be submitted under Condition 1 as part of the reserved matters should reflect the
conclusions of the report in terms of avoiding impenetrable barriers.
Reason: In order to ensure the appropriate protection of reptiles on site in accordance with policy
PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition because the
site needs to be searched for retiles which are a protected species before development can start.
C11 The development should be carried out in accordance with the recommendations in the
Ecological Report in respect of badgers. All trenches should be covered at night during the
construction period or a means of escape provided.
Reason: In order to ensure the appropriate protection of badgers on site in accordance with policy
PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C12 The plans and particulars to be submitted under condition 1 shall include details of open
space provision which shall broadly accord with the amount of open space shown on the illustrative
layout plan reference CAUD 334914 and include a play area. Prior to the first occupation of first
dwelling on site details of the proposed play equipment shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority along with a timetable for the delivery of the open space(s)
including the play area. The open space and play area shall thereafter be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and be ready for use in accordance with the approved
timetable. The open space and play area shall thereafter be retained and maintained and be
available for public use.
Reason: In order to ensure sufficient open space and provision of play equipment in accordance
with policy PP14 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C13 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
Flood Risk Assessment as amended. The plans to be submitted under condition 1 shall confirm
how the development complies with the approved Assessment and include details of all on site
attenuation features. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with
the approved details prior to first occupation of any dwelling to which they relate.
Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be adequately drained in accordance with policy CS21
of the adopted Core Strategy.

38

C14 Prior to the commencement of development (other than ecological investigation and
surveys) a detailed surface water strategy including details of the design, implementation,
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Those details shall include:
a) Information about the design storm period and intensity, discharge rates and volumes (both pre
and post development), temporary storage facilities, means of access for maintenance, the
methods employed to delay and control the surface water discharged from the site and the
measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface
waters;
b) Any works required off-site to ensure adequate discharge of surface water without causing
flooding or pollution (which should include refurbishment of existing culverts and headwalls or
removal of unused culverts where relevant);
c) Flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site;
d) A timetable for its implementation, and
e) A management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall include
the arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker, management
and maintenance by a Residents’ Management Company or any other arrangements to secure the
operation of the sustainable drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.
f) Demonstration that it meets the governments national standards
The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved details before
the dwelling to which they relate are first occupied.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve
habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system in
accordance with policy CS22 of the adopted Core Strategy. This is a pre-commencement condition
as the drainage strategy needs to be agreed from the outset.
C15 Prior to the commencement of development (excluding site clearance works) a detailed
scheme of foul drainage including details of any phasing or off site connections/infrastructure
improvements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details before the
dwelling to which it relates is first occupied.
Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be adequately drained in accordance with policy CS21
of the adopted Core Strategy. This is a pre-commencement condition as the foul drainage needs to
be agreed at the outset of the development.
C16 The hard landscaping scheme to be submitted as plans and particulars under condition 1
shall include the following details
 Hard surface materials
 Boundary treatments
 Refuse areas
 Cycle parking provision for any flatted schemes
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to
the first occupation of the area or building to which they relate or in accordance with any alternative
timeframe as maybe agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the visual and residential amenity in accordance with policy CS16 of
the adopted Core Strategy and polices PP2 and PP3 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD

39

C17 The soft landscaping scheme for front gardens, shared communal open spaces (not private
rear gardens) etc shall be submitted as plans and particulars under condition 1 shall include the
following details
 Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of planting
 An implementation programme (phased developments)
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details no later
than first available planting/seeding season following first occupation or in accordance with any
alternative timeframe as maybe agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority apart from the
open space which shall be laid out in accordance with the requirement of condition 12.
Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme (except those
contained in enclosed rear gardens to individual dwellings) that die are removed, become diseased
or unfit for purpose [in the opinion of the LPA] within five years of the implementation of the
landscaping scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the
Developers, or their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species being
replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall
themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement of
biodiversity in accordance with policies CS20 & CS21 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy
DPD and TD1 of the Trees & Woodlands Strategy 2012.
C18 The plans and particulars to be submitted under condition 1 shall include a Landscape
Management Plan. The management plan shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with a
timetable contained therein.
 The Plan shall include the following details:
 Long term design objectives
 Management responsibilities
 Maintenance schedules
The development in each zone or part thereof shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement of
biodiversity in accordance with policies CS20 & CS21 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy
DPD and TD1 of the Trees & Woodlands Strategy 2012.
C19 The plans and particulars to be submitted under condition 1 shall include an Arboricultural
Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Scheme. The development shall thereafter take place in
accordance with the approved details and Tree Protection Measures. The tree protection
measures shall be erected prior to the commencement of development or site works and therefore
after retained until development within that area is completed.
Reason: In order to protect retained trees and hedges in accordance with policy PP16 of the
adopted Planning Policies DPD.

C20 If during any phase or sub-phase of development unsuspected land contamination is found
to be present at the site of that phase or sub-phase then no further development (unless otherwise
agreed to in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out on that phase or subphase until the developer has submitted to, and obtained written approval from the Local Planning
Authority, a Method Statement. The Method Statement must detail how this unsuspected
contamination shall be dealt with, within an agreed timetable, and the development of that phase

40

shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved Method Statement unless
otherwise agreed to in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development complies with approved details in the interests of
protection of Human Health and Controlled Waters, in accordance with the National Planning
Policy Framework and policy PP20 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C21 The plans and particulars to be submitted under condition 1 shall include details of existing
and proposed levels. The plans shall include details of all finished floor levels, levels for associated
garages and gardens, details of any earthworks, retaining features and confirmation that level
access can be achieved. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with policy CS16 of the
adopted Core Strategy and policy PP4 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C22 Prior to the commencement of development (other than ecological investigation or survey)
a Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Construction Management Plan shall include but not be limited to the
following:A. A scheme for the monitoring, reporting and control of construction noise and vibration
including hours of working and scope for remedial action.
B. A scheme for the control dust and scope for remedial action in the event that dust is
identified as an issue or any complaints are received.
C. A scheme of chassis and wheel cleaning for construction vehicles and cleaning of affected
public highways.
D. A contingency plan including if necessary the temporary cessation of all construction
operations to be implemented in the event that the approved vehicle cleaning scheme fails
to be effective for any reason
E. Haul routes to the site including the point of access and hours of delivery.
F. Measures to ensure that vehicles can access the site upon arrival to ensure that there is no
queuing on the public highway.
G. Details of site compounds and storage area.
H. Details of contractors parking.
I. Detail of the site enclosure or part thereof.
J. Confirmation that tree protection measures are in place.
K. Confirmation that the demolition will be carried out in accordance with the ecological
assessment.
L. A scheme for dealing with complaints.
M. Details of any temporary lighting
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved Construction
Management Plan.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, highways safety and to protect the ecological
interest within the site/retained trees in accordance with policies PP3, PP12 and PP16 of the
adopted Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition as the construction
management plan needs to be in place from the outset of the development.

C23 The plans and particulars to be submitted under condition 1 shall include details of a buffer
area around 5/7 Oundle Road to be kept free from development. This shall be based upon the
principles shown on the illustrative layout plan reference CAUD 334914 and shall not include
development any closer to this property than indicated. The development shall thereafter be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

41

Reason: In order to preserve the settling of this listed building in accordance with section 66 of the
Town and Country Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990, the provisions of
the National Planning Policy Framework, policy CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy
CS17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C24 No dwelling or other building within a phase or sub-phase shall be occupied until all
highways linking that dwelling/building to the public highway network have been provided to a
minimum of base course level.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy PP12 of the adopted Planning
Policies PDP
C25 The new site access including the relocated bus stops and shelters shall be constructed and
be ready for use in accordance with the details shown on drawing number 0752-SK-006 Rev I
Proposed Site Access and Off Site Improvements prior to the first occupation of any dwelling.
Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be properly accessed in accordance with the approved
details and policy PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C26 Prior to their installation details of the new bus stops shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. They shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the
approved details before the first use of the new bus laybys.
Reason: In order to ensure that the site can be properly accessed in accordance with the approved
details and policy PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C27 No dwelling shall be occupied until a signalised junction at the A605 and Oundle Road (east
of the A1) has been constructed, open to traffic and has been certified as such by Peterborough
City Council. The junction shall be based upon the details shown on drawing number 0752-SK-006
Rev I Proposed Site Access and Off site improvements.
Reason: In order to ensure that the A1 trunk road continues to perform its function as part of the
strategic road network in accordance with Section 10 of the Highways Act 1980 and for the
reasonable requirements of road safety on the road.
C28 Notwithstanding the submitted information prior to their installation details of any proposed
lighting columns for the new site access and signalised junction shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The columns shall thereafter be installed in
accordance with the approved details before the new access or signals are brought into use.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety/visual amenity in accordance with policy CS16 of the
adopted Core Strategy.
C29 The signalisation junction into the village of Alwalton shall be monitored in accordance with a
scheme including the time period of the monitoring and frequency to be approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the first use of the signals. The results of the monitoring shall
thereafter be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. If in the view of the Local
Planning Authority the monitoring shall a that the junction arrangement does not offer satisfactory
control or there is a highway safety issue then an amended junction scheme detailing full
signalisation of the junction along with a timetable for implementation, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure that the A1 trunk road continues to perform its function as part of the
strategic road network in accordance with Section 10 of the Highways Act 1980 and for the
reasonable requirements of road safety on the road.
C30 Notwithstanding the submitted information no development above foundation level shall take
place until details of a three metre wide footway/cycleway along the south side of Oundle Road
from the site access to Joseph Odam Way has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The footway/cycleway shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with
the approved details prior to the first occupation of any dwelling.

42

Reason: In order to enhance the sustainability of the site in accordance with policy Cs14 of the
adopted Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.
C31 Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to the first occupation of any dwelling a
Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
Travel Plan shall include SMART targets, a review mechanism and details of measures which will
be implemented in the event that the targets are not hit. The Travel Plan shall therefore after be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order to ensure the number of car borne trips to and from the site in accordance with
policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy.
C32 The development shall be constructed so that it achieves a Target Emission Rate of at least
10% better than building regulations at the time of building regulation approval being sought.
Reason: To be in accordance with Policy CS10 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)
C33 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans and documents

Site Location Plan CAUD 334914

Transport Assessment and Supporting following up analysis including the LINSIG junction
analysis, Stage 1 Safety Audit and Designers Response (as amended)


0752-SK-006 Rev I Proposed Site Access and Off Site Improvements



Archaeological Evaluation Report No 15/7 December 2014



Flood Risk Assessment



Air Quality Assessment July 2015



Preliminary Ecological Appraisal July 2014

Reason: In order to ensure that the development complies with what has been applied for

Copies to Councillors: Stokes, Casey and Aitken

43

This page is intentionally left blank

44

45

This page is intentionally left blank

46

Planning and EP Committee 26 April 2016

Item 2

Application Ref:

16/00398/FUL

Proposal:

Three new gas compressors and enclosures, a new vent stack, site office,
administration and welfare buildings and associated infrastructure

Site:
Applicant:

Referred by:
Reason:
Site visit:

1650 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE6 7HH,
Mr Paul Emmett
National Grid
Mr Ian Grimshaw
The Environment Partnership
Head of Service
Public Interest and previous Committee decision
09.03.2016

Case officer:
Telephone No.
E-Mail:

Mrs T J Nicholl
01733 454442
theresa.nicholl@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:

Permit subject to conditions

Agent:

1

Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

This application has been submitted following refusal of the previous scheme submitted under
15/01235/FUL. This previous application was refused against officer recommendation for the
following reason:
The proposed development, in particular the appearance of the three gas compressor units,
constitutes alien features within a predominantly rural landscape. As such the proposals
harm the visual appearance and character of the landscape setting and locality and, in
addition, as a consequence, have an adverse impact on the visual amenity of the nearby
residential properties given their close proximity to the site. The development is therefore
contrary to policies CS16 and CS20 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy and policy
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
The current scheme is fundamentally the same in that it contains the same key pieces of
infrastructure as before, except that the applicant has included various visual enhancements to
overcome the sole reason for refusal set out above. They key differences between the previously
submitted scheme and this proposal are set out at the end of this section.
The existing National Grid gas compressor site comprises an area of approximately 6.157 hectares
of land in a roughly square shaped parcel of land located to the west of Gasworks Road. This site
contains the existing 3 gas turbine engines (identifiable in the vicinity by the red coloured stacks),
vent stack, offices and other plant and ancillary buildings. The site is surrounded on all sides by
agricultural land. Waterworks Lane is approximately 190 metres to the north and there are
sporadic properties along the southern side of Waterworks Lane the rear elevations of which face
the existing site. To the west of the site is a field and then Brooks Drain which runs in a roughly
south/north direction. A further drain runs along the southern boundary of the site. To the east,
the A15 Parkway is separated from the existing site by the highway verge landscaping and
Gasworks Road, an arable field and a thicker tree belt which borders the eastern boundary of the
site. Beyond the A15 to the east is Lincoln Road which contains residential properties. These
properties are approximately 370 metres away from the edge of the existing site.
The proposal includes most of the existing site within the application area and requires the
utilisation of a further 5.5 hectares of the land to the east of the current site. The application red

47

line site comprises 6.89 hectares with the other land within National Grid’s control shown in blue on
the site location plan.
The current site was developed in the early 1970s. It is one of the 24 gas compressor stations
placed at strategic sites within the National Transmission Network (NTS) of over 7,600km of steel
high pressure pipelines. The purpose of the gas compressor stations is to raise the pressure of
gas at key points in the system to ensure that the gas moves around the NTS efficiently and safely
so it can be delivered to homes and businesses. It is fair to say, therefore, that the site is of
strategic national importance in terms of energy provision. The site is heavily regulated through
permitting by the Environment Agency.
The proposal is part of a national programme of upgrades being undertaken by National Grid to
satisfy future supply and demand patterns, the physical state of the asset and most importantly the
tightening of regulations requiring reductions in emissions levels, critically oxides of nitrogen (NOx).
The proposed new units would result in NOx reductions of more than 90% and carbon dioxide
(CO2) of more than 15% over 20 years.
The proposals include the provision of 3 new compressors, gas cleaning equipment and valves
and other ancillary infrastructure within the area of the current site boundary. The new gas
compressors would be located to the north of the existing compressors. It should be noted that
only two compressors are required to be running at any one time. Also proposed is a new site
office, surface water and foul water treatment plant, car park and vent stack within the area of land
(currently part of the field) to the east of the site. The application also includes new fencing,
lighting and landscape screening – especially to the north and east of the “new” site area. The
existing vent stack and gas cleaning equipment will be removed.
The new compressors would be a maximum of 21.5 metres high above slab level. The existing
exhaust stacks are 12.6 metres high. The proposed vent stack would be up to 25 metres high
above slab level. The existing vent stack is 10.4 metres high. The vent stack is required to
disperse process gas (unodorised natural gas being moved around the NTS) in the local
environment in the event that a compressor or other station pipework needs to be emptied of gas
for maintenance, shutdown, or very rarely, in a potential emergency situation.
Differences between the previous scheme (refused) and the current proposal







The proposed three new gas compressor units have been re-designed. The high level
emissions sampling points have been set at a lower level on the chimneys which has
enabled the staircases and gantries for access to be reduced/lowered also.
The chimneys and the air intake equipment are proposed to be “wrapped” in a perforated
steel cladding which will be “folded” in profile around the chimneys and flat in profile around
the air intake. The final design and detailed specification would need to be approved later
by the local planning authority but the final design would be very much based upon this
design concept.
The vent stack, whilst still including 8 vents has been re-designed to group the vents into
two diamond shaped groups of four which are self-supported by lattice cross members
within the diamond shape of each group of four. Previously the 8 vents were set in a single
row and were supported by a heavier gantry. The overall width of the proposed vent stack
(i.e. from the first vent to the last) will be 6.2 metres and would be viewed as two lattice type
structures from the east and west. From the north and south the vent stack will be viewed
as a lattice structure of 1.8 metres wide.
The landscaping will include a planted tree belt along the “new” eastern boundary of the site
(i.e. adjacent to the vent stack area) and will include some heavy standard trees. The trees
proposed to the northern boundary of the vent stack area will be planted on a bund created
from excess soil from within the site. A planted tree screen will be provided around the
proposed car park area. Subject to final engineering within the site, the applicant is looking
at whether any of the existing trees along the present eastern edge of the site can be
retained.

48



2

A bank of “sculptured” trees is proposed between the planted bund to the north of the vent
stack area and the field to the north separating the site from Waterworks Lane. The
concept of the trees has been submitted – it is envisaged that they would comprise a metal
frame with coated metal mesh infill to create a silhouette tree effect. The detailed design
would need to be agreed later but the applicant states the sculptured trees will provide early
screening from the properties to the north at least until the planted trees on the bank
mature. (The proposed provision of the sculptured trees has come about through
discussion with Glinton Parish Council and residents as have many of the other changes).
Planning History

Reference

Proposal

Decision

15/00002/SCREEN

Screening opinion for proposed works to
Existing gas compressor station

Comments
(EIA not req) 22/01/2015

15/01235/FUL

Provision of three new gas compressors
Refused
and enclosures, a new vent stack, site
office, administration and welfare buildings
and associated infrastructure

3

Date

09/12/2016

Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
EN1

Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)
Section 1 - Economic Growth
Planning should encourage sustainable growth and significant weight should be given to
supporting economic development.
Section 4 - Assessment of Transport Implications
Development which generates a significant amount of traffic should be supported by a Transport
Statement/Transport Assessment. It should be located to minimise the need to travel/to maximise
the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel Plan. Large scale
developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be provided and
the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.
Section 6 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Housing applications should be considered in this context. Policies for the supply of housing should
not be considered up-to-date if a 5 year supply of sites cannot be demonstrated.
Section 7 - Good Design
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place;
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for
development of poor design.
Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without

49

increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.
Section 11 - Natural and Local Environment
Should be enhanced through the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes, geological
conservation interests and soils; recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; minimising
impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity. New and existing development
should not contribute to or be put at unacceptable risk by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or
noise pollution and land instability.
Section 11 - Development on Agricultural Land
Where deemed necessary areas of poorer quality land should be used in preference to that of a
higher quality.
Section 11 - Biodiversity
Development resulting in significant harm to biodiversity or in the loss of/deterioration of
irreplaceable habitats should be refused if the impact cannot be adequately mitigated, or
compensated.
Proposals to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be permitted and
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity into new development encouraged.
Development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest or other specified sites should
not normally be permitted where an adverse effect on the site's notified special interest features is
likely. An exception should only be made where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts.
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development
requiring Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered or
determined.
Section 11 - Contamination
The site should be suitable for its intended use taking account of ground conditions, land stability
and pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation. After remediation, as a
minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.
Section 11 - Noise
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted;
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and
quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.
Section 11 - Light Pollution
Lighting should be designed to limit pollution on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and
areas of nature conservation.
Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness. When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given
to the asset’s conservation.
Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the
harm/loss. In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

50

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.
CS14 - Transport
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for
residents.
CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm,
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.
CS17 - The Historic Environment
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.
CS20 - Landscape Character
New development should be sensitive to the open countryside. Within the Landscape Character
Areas development will only be permitted where specified criteria are met.
CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.
CS22 - Flood Risk
Development in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria are met. Sustainable
drainage systems should be used where appropriate.
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)
CS26 – Mineral Safeguarding Areas
Development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the mineral concerned is no
longer of economic value, the mineral can be extracted prior to development taking place, the
development will not inhibit extraction in the future, there is an overriding need for the development
and prior extraction cannot be reasonably undertaken or the development is not incompatible
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)
PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where there are no relevant
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
PP02 - Design Quality
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.
PP03 - Impacts of New Development
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

51

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including
highway safety.
PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.
PP17 - Heritage Assets
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the
significance of the asset or its setting. Development which would have detrimental impact will be
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.
PP18 - Ancient, Semi-Natural Woodland and Ancient and Veteran Trees
Permission will not be granted for development which would adversely affect an area of ancient,
semi-natural woodland or an ancient or veteran tree unless the need for it or public benefits
outweigh the loss.
PP19 - Habitats and Species of Principal Importance
Permission will not be granted for development which would cause demonstrable harm to a habitat
or species unless the need for, and benefits of it, outweigh the harm. Development likely to have
an impact should include measures to maintain and, if possible, enhance the status of the habitat
or species.
4

Consultations/Representations

Glinton Parish Council (17.03.16)
No objections but asked that the following conditions be included in the decision;
The stated noise levels would be re-stated in a condition and subject to monitoring by National Grid
Control over working hours during the development to the effect that unless unavoidable there will
be no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays. Furthermore if these working hours are unavoidable
residents will be advised in advance with an explanation
In reaching their decision, the planning authority should acknowledge the written commitment
given by National Grid to continue on-going consultation with the residents.
On this basis, the Parish Council would not seek to refer the application to the Planning and
Environmental Protection Committee.
PCC Transport & Engineering Services (17.03.16)
No objections subject to conditions about a construction management plan and parking and
turning.
PCC Pollution Team (07.04.2016)
Noise
The following have been considered in recommending a noise limit for the proposed development.


The existing planning condition and the basis for the noise limits described therein.



The level of noise from the source above the background noise levels.



The likely variation in the background noise levels. Representative locations were agreed
for monitoring prior to the application shown in Figure 1 in Appendix A of the submitted
noise report.



The existing noise levels and tonality associated with existing plant.

52



The intermittent operation of the plant.



The periods during which the plant would most likely be operational.



The introduction of a new source into the locality that may attract attention.



The potential for reasonable noise complaint, and the consequences to the operator and
the Local Authority in those circumstances.

The above have been considered against relevant standards and recommendations; and the
following limit is recommended.
‘The rating level of noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 45dB LAr,1-hour between 07:00 and
23:00; and 45 dB LAr,15-minutes at any other time. The noise levels shall be determined at any
residential dwelling. The measurements and assessment should be made according to BS:4142:
2014.’
Construction Noise
With regards to the construction phase and de-watering the site 24 hours a day, this may be an
issue of noise to the nearest residents. Steps can be taken to reduce the noise of the
pumps/generators. It would be beneficial for this potential impact, and any appropriate mitigation
measures, to be considered at an early stage.
With respect to construction hours, there is no specific legislative control for the hours of work on
construction sites. There is a code of practice for control of noise from construction sites. Although
this does not have a great deal of specific information, it does advise that work should be
programmed such that HGV’s do not come on site between 7pm and 7am. Although not directly
relevant it gives a guide of likely acceptable hours for noisy activities.
The only offence is to cause a nuisance. It is possible to carry out activities 24hrs and not cause a
nuisance. This will depend on location and type of noise.
Construction works also have a defence of Best Practicable Means. Some noisy activities are
essential, but they should be carried out during reasonable hours.
The courts have determined that construction works carried out in a reasonable manner will not be
held to be a nuisance. This will be a question of fact in each individual circumstance. A certain
amount of noise is inherent in all types of building and construction operations and it can never be
completely eliminated. The amount of noise depends on the type of plant and equipment used
together with factors, such as location and the manner of operation.
The applicant has proposed to enter into an agreement under Section 61 of the Control of Pollution
Act 1974 which would obligate the developer to use best practicable means of noise control for the
works. PCC Pollution Control is happy with this approach.
Archaeological Officer (18.03.16)
The fieldwork has been completed but the final excavation report is to be submitted.
Lead Local Drainage Authority (16.03.16)
No objections subject to a detailed surface water scheme being submitted prior to construction.
PCC Tree Officer (23.03.16)
No objections subject to conditions covering tree protection, phasing of planting, soil compaction
and details of landscaping scheme. The principle of removal of the trees on the eastern boundary
of the current site is agreed subject to the mitigation proposed. The use of tree "sculptures" is an

53

untried concept (to my knowledge) - they could be out of keeping with the landscape and detract
from the natural enhancement but there is no precedent and no definitive way of anticipating the
outcome.
PCC Wildlife Officer (21.03.16)
No objections subject to suitable conditions being imposed to ensure species protection and
mitigation for loss of habitat. The proposed landscaping/habitat mitigation area is acceptable and
should include creation of suitable reptile/amphibian refuges. A range of nesting boxes should also
be installed. Subject to all these recommendations being incorporated into the approved scheme
there will be no net loss of biodiversity.
PCC Rights of Way Officer (24.03.16)
There is currently an extinguishment order being consulted on with regards to the planning
application. If this goes through there will be no concerns with regard to the public bridleway within
the current site.
Environment Agency (23.03.16)
No objection subject to a condition to deal with contamination
Landscape Architect (Amey) (17.03.16)
Recommend approval subject to conditions relating to provision of a 25 year landscape/ecology
management plan, recommend that a sample of the metal screen trees is provided on site to
ensure that in terms of materials and spacing they fulfil their purpose, closely spaced semi mature
trees may lead to plant stress and so will require frequent monitoring and that standard landscape
conditions be applied.
Natural England - Consultation Service (24.03.16)
No objections subject to suitable species protection.
Historic England (23.03.16)
The nearest grade I and grade II* listed buildings within Glinton would be screened from the
development by the landscape in which the development would be set. Woodcroft Castle sits at
some distance from the proposal and would be screened by both the planting within which it is set
and other planting in the landscape. To some degree the presence in the landscape of the
proposed development would compromise its historic rural character but the effect of this upon the
castle would seem likely to be slight. Therefore Historic England considers the development would
be consistent with the NPPF's policies to conserve significant heritage assets in respect of these
particular assets. The Council should consider the impact upon the broader historic environment.
Health & Safety Executive (22.03.16)
Does not advise against
Local Residents/Interested Parties
Initial consultations: 45
Three letters have been received by nearby residents – two who live on Waterworks Land and one
who lives on Lincoln Road on the eastern side of the A15.
One of the residents at Waterworks Lane objects to the proposal on the grounds that he is
concerned about an increase in noise levels that will cause a nuisance and ruin the peaceful
enjoyment of his home.
The other resident on Waterworks Lane comments that she has been in contact with National Grid
(along with neighbours) throughout the duration of this current and previous application. She is
now satisfied with the design of the compressors and the vent stack. She also comments that
National Grid have made some promises to the neighbours about keeping them informed about

54

progress, any design changes, informing neighbours in advance of any noisy construction activity
and keeping such activity to reasonable hours during the week. National Grid have also promised
“metal trees” to screen the north side of the project, irrigation of the newly planted saplings and that
noise from the vent stack will not make a noise above 45dB. There is also concern about much of
the work being undertaken in the summer months. Would like the work kept to reasonable hours
during the week and for it to stop on Sundays. There is also concern about increased traffic using
the junction off the A15 when travelling north as there is no exit slip road and also about the noise
from increased traffic. We hope that National Grid will keep to their promises made to us as
neighbours.
The neighbour who lives on Lincoln Road (on the east side of the A15 has complained that
communication from National Grid with him has been poor and that he has sought information from
Glinton Parish Council.
He is concerned that noise measurements were not undertaken from where he lives and thinks
National Grid have something to hide by not providing the noise report.
The neighbour objects to the vent stacks being too high and being visible on the sky line. It is not
possible to assess from the information submitted what impact this will have on the residents on
the east side of the A15. The obvious way to mitigate against the structures is to plant trees close
to the residents i.e. on the eastern side of the A15 (on the verge). Such tree planting would better
screen the development and would mitigate the noise impacts. Until the issues about the noise
and design are more thoroughly assessed the application should be rejected.
5

Assessment of the planning issues

The key issues for consideration are;
1. The principle of the development
2. Transport
3. Scale/design and impact on neighbours
4. Impact on landscape character and landscaping
5. Biodiversity/ecology
6. Heritage/archaeology
7. Noise
8. Odour/pollution
9. Flood Risk/Drainage
10. Other issues
11. Taking into account the previous decision
Principle of Development
The principle of having a gas compressor station in this location was established when the current
site was approved and constructed in the early 1970s. Due to the nature of the development and
its connection to the gas pipelines, it is not feasible or viable to consider relocating the station
elsewhere. The proposal requires the utilisation of part of the adjacent field to the east of the site
upon which to locate the new vent stack, office, foul and surface water treatment plant and other
associated infrastructure. Policy CS1 of the spatial strategy within the adopted Peterborough Core
Strategy sets out that development in the open countryside will be restricted to that which is
demonstrably essential to a limited type of developments including utility services. The proposal
would fall within this potential exception. The supporting documentation accompanying the
application explains that the larger site area is required for operational and safety purposes, to
enable the applicant to build new compressors which adhere to the industry safety standards
(including isolating the vent stack) and crucially which enables the continuing operation of the site
whilst the development takes place. It is therefore considered that the proposal accords with policy
CS1 and the development is acceptable in principle.
Transport

55

A Transport Statement accompanies the application. This sets out that once the development is
completed there will be no change in operational traffic visiting the site. It is proposed to reduce
the current on-site parking from 32 to 20 spaces as this will adequately serve the employees and
provide 8 visitor parking spaces.
Construction traffic will generate a maximum of 38 vehicles an hour and a maximum of 200 across
a day. There are a small number of trips which will involve low loader and crane movements which
will require temporary traffic arrangements on the A15 to allow the vehicle to exit Waterworks Lane
safely onto the A15. Therefore on occasion temporary traffic arrangements will need to be agreed
with the Highway Authority and the police.
A construction compound will be created between the site and Gasworks Lane (as shown on the
phasing plans) and temporary traffic access points will be created into the compound directly off
Gasworks Lane. The construction compound will remain in place throughout the lifetime of the
development and then restored back to agricultural land.
The Highway Authority raise no objections to the application and recommend that conditions be
imposed concerning construction traffic management.
It is considered that the application accords with policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy
and policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
Scale/Design and impact on neighbours
The proposed plant is utilitarian by its nature although as discussed below the applicant has sought
to include good quality design elements to improve the appearance of the plant. It’s positioning
within the site and its scale and design are largely determined by factors including the need for the
applicant to use Best Available Technology (BAT), the need to comply with regulations including
safety distances and height/space ratios to ensure noise limits will be met and emissions can be
dispersed safely. The utilitarian nature of the original proposals, especially the compressor units
and a lack of enclosure or cladding were discussed by Members at length when considering the
previous application. It was very much due to this particular issue that Members refused the
previous scheme.
In terms of scale, the most noticeable elements of the new plant will be the new gas cleaning
equipment which will be 11 metres high, the three new compressors which will be up to a
maximum of 21.5 metres high and the proposed vent stack which will be 25 metres high. The
latter will be situated within the extended site area.
The proposed compressors are located just to the north of the existing cabs and so are closer to
some properties along Waterworks Lane, particularly Woodcroft Villas (pair of semi-detached
houses). There is a belt of mature trees along the northern boundary of the site which will help to
partially screen the compressor cabs but they will be highly visible from Waterworks Lane.
However, as the landscape architect (PCC consultee) points out, the compressors are located
within an existing industrialised site. The proposed compressors are approximately 240 metres
from the rear elevations of Woodcroft Cottages. The applicant has (in consultation with Glinton
Parish Council and residents) and in association with a firm of industrial architects, worked on the
design of the proposed compressor units and vent stack. Taking into account the comments of
Members at the previous Committee, it is proposed to “wrap” the three compressor chimneys in a
perforated and “folded” type cladding which would extend up and around each chimney,
terminating at an angle before the top of each stack. Perforated flat profile “cladding” would also
be provided to the air intake structure which forms part of the whole compressor unit. As the
emissions testing port has been lowered, much of the structure to access the ports has been
removed to a lower level making the overall appearance of the compressor units less cluttered
than the previous submission. Although the very final design can only be agreed once all the
engineering works have been finalised by the specialised engineers to be appointed, it is clear that

56

such final designs will be based upon the concepts currently submitted and that submission of the
final design can be conditioned.
It is unfortunate that additional land needs to be used to accommodate the vent stack, but for
operational and safety reasons, the new development cannot all be accommodated within the
confines of the existing site. Extending the site north was discounted due to the closer proximity to
properties on Waterworks Lane. Extending west and south were discounted because of higher
flood risk and ecological constraints and therefore extending east was chosen by the applicant as
the best option. This means, however, that the proposed vent stack will be visible to properties to
the east in Lincoln Road, Glinton (to the east of the A15) and to properties along Waterworks Lane
and the part of Lincoln Road, Glinton that is to the west of the A15.
The vent stack will be approximately 320 metres from the front elevation of 4 Lincoln Road,
approximately 400 metres from 3 Lincoln Road and approximately 330 metres from the front
elevation of “Jodi” on Waterworks Lane. Although the vent stack may be up to 25 metres tall, it is a
slim piece of plant (in the context of the site). However, whereas the previous proposal showed
eight vents in a single line, the current proposal groups the vents into two sets of four vents set in a
diamond shape. This configuration requires less supporting structure than the previous proposals.
The existing trees (those to be retained) together with the proposed tree planting belts will, over
time help to screen the lower parts of the development from the occupiers of the nearest
properties. It is accepted that no amount of screening can totally hide the view of the new
compressors and vent stack. During the construction a temporary soil bund to the north of the site
which will be created from topsoil on the site, will assist with screening. A permanent soil bund will
ultimately be established in this area as part of the landscaping proposals.
In terms of visual impact on residential property, policy PP3 of the Planning Policies DPD states
that development shall not be granted planning permission where it will result in unacceptable loss
of light to and/or overshadowing of any nearby property or result in being overbearing on any
nearby property. The proposed development is too distant from any property to result in loss of
light, overshadowing or be overbearing. It is acknowledged that the proposals will affect the views
from some residential properties, particularly those directly facing the site along Waterworks Lane
and to a lesser extent those on Lincoln Road, Glinton. However, the development is set against a
current industrial site albeit with lower existing buildings. A right to a view is not a material
planning consideration. Sometimes distant buildings can be of such a scale as to make dwellings
“undesirable places in which to live.” Such a test is often applied to large wind turbines, although
turbines have the issue of constant movement. In this instance, although visible, the proposals will
not affect the nearest properties to such a degree that they become undesirable places in which to
live. Also, whilst there is some visual impact, it is not so significant to conflict with policy PP3. The
visual impact that will occur must also be weighed against the need to upgrade essential national
energy infrastructure. In terms of visual impact on residential property the proposal complies with
policy PP3.
In terms of design quality, the character of the surrounding area will be affected by the height of the
new infrastructure but this can be mitigated to an extent by imposition of conditions relating to
materials and new tree planting. The applicants propose that the new plant will be light grey in
colour (not black). As the new planting will take at least 15 years to have maximum impact and is
proposed in part to mitigate views of the development from residential properties, it is proposed to
impose a condition requiring a 25 year management plan for the landscaping. However, to aid
visual screening, the applicant proposes to plant some semi mature trees in the proposed planting
belts, plant trees around the proposed car park, retain trees within the site where possible and to
plant trees along the northern boundary on a bund. In consultation with the Parish Council and
residents, sculptured metal trees are proposed along the northern boundary of the vent stack area.
Such trees are not tried and tested and neither the case officer nor the Council’s tree officer can at
this stage vouch for their effectiveness. However, it is proposed that as these “trees” form part of
the landscape scheme, their design and management will be an integral part of the 25 year
management scheme required by condition.

57

Given the nature of the development, it is considered that the applicant has used best practicable
means to site the new plant in appropriate areas and to mitigate its appearance through colour of
materials and tree planting. Therefore, the proposals comply overall with policies CS21 and PP2.
Impact on landscape character and landscaping proposals
The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). The LVIA
essentially assesses the current baseline with regard to landscape character, assesses the impact
of the development on landscape character and with mitigation. Landscape character concerns
the intrinsic landscape value of areas such as topography, planting, buildings, field patterns etc.
The Peterborough Landscape Character Assessment 2007 sets out the character and sub
character areas for Peterborough. Visual impact concerns the impact of development upon
peoples’ perceptions through views from key “receptors” i.e. residential dwellings, public footpaths
etc.
Visual impact has been dealt with in the previous section. The LVIA included assessments of
wider viewpoints within a 2.5 km radius of the site. The landscape architect advising PCC has not
raised concerns about visual impact on other receptors except the nearest residential properties –
as set out above. She has advised that although there will be visual impact the proposals will not
cause enough harm to be in conflict with any national or local planning policies.
With regard to landscape character, the LVIA assesses this to be ordinary which is broadly
consistent with the Peterborough Landscape Character Assessment which considers it to be “low
to moderate”. The Landscape Architect advising the Council agrees with the LVIA’s conclusion
that the magnitude of the impact of development would be moderate adverse. She also notes that
the development is an extension of an existing industrial feature which has become a familiar
feature of the area. Woodland is not a characteristic of the area and the trees to be removed to
facilitate the development were planted at the time the existing station was developed. Whilst
woodland is not a characteristic here, it is considered necessary for visual screening and has
become a familiar landscape feature associated with the facility. The proposed tree planting will
just be in a slightly different location. The Landscape Architect also has no prior knowledge of tree
sculptures being used in this way and suggests that samples first be agreed on site. In terms of
landscape character, the proposals would comply with paragraph 65 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Core Strategy policies CS1, CS17 and CS20.
With regard to the proposed tree removal and new landscape scheme, the Council’s Tree Officer
does not object to the proposals subject to conditions requiring submission of landscape details,
tree protection measures and soil protection.
The submission shows that existing trees to the north of the existing site will be retained. A large
block of trees to the east of the existing site will need to be removed, although the applicant may
be able to retain some of these trees (but this can’t be confirmed yet). Some trees within the belt
along the edge of Gasworks Lane will need to be removed to make the temporary access points
(one is a new access and one is an existing farm gate entrance which shall be widened). A new
belt of trees to the north and east of the site extension will be planted to mitigate for the tree loss
and to help with screening. The applicant confirms that some of the trees to be planted will be
heavy standards. Such mitigation (with conditions) is acceptable and complies with policy PP16 of
the Planning Policies DPD.
Biodiversity/Ecology
The applicant submitted an extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report and a Protected Species
Survey Report with the application. The surveys found no presence of great crested newts (GCN),
reptiles or water voles but there are potential habitats in and around the site to support such
species. Bat surveys indicated bat activity on site (several species) but found no evidence of bat
roosts within the site. A badger survey confirmed that there are no badger setts within the site or

58

area surrounding the site although badgers may move through the area. Further surveys will be
required to assess whether there are water vole present in the drain area to the south of the site.
Proposed mitigation measures include; replacement of the lost trees with new planting, provision of
bird and bat boxes, provision of reptile and amphibian refuges within the scrub area and design of
lighting to be sympathetic to bats.
Natural England commented previously on the Air Quality Assessment and notes the predicted
reductions in NOx concentrations which may have beneficial impacts for both annual mean and
maximum daily mean NOx concentrations at all designated habitat sites including Nene Washes
Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site, Barnack
Hills and Holes SAC and Orton Pit SAC. Natural England has raised no objections to the current
scheme noting its similarity to the previous proposals and is therefore satisfied the proposal is
unlikely to have any adverse effect on such sites.
With regard to the protected species, the Council’s Wildlife Officer has raised no objections subject
to the required further survey work and mitigation measures being secured by conditions.
Conditions are proposed to secure the measures required. As such the proposals accord with
policy CS21 of the Core Strategy and policy PP19 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.ew3
Heritage/Archaeology
The NPPF sets out in paragraphs 131 to 136 how local planning authorities should deal with
applications that may affect heritage assets. These might be designated such as listed buildings
and Conservation Areas or non-designated. The planning judgement/weighting will depend on the
significance of the asset concerned and the level of harm that might be caused e.g. substantial or
less than substantial. Archaeological remains are also heritage assets.
Policies CS17 of the Core Strategy and PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD are
consistent with the NPPF.
A Cultural Heritage Desk Based Assessment has been submitted with the application. With regard
to built heritage it is noted that there are no designated assets within a 1km radius of the site and
that there are several listed buildings within Glinton.
Historic England state that in their opinion St. Benedict’s Church and Manor House and its stables
in Glinton (first grade 1 and the latter grade II*) would be screened by the village from the
development. Woodcroft Castle, an unusual medieval fortified house listed at grade II* stands at
some distance from the site and would be screened both by the planting within which it is set and
by other planting in the landscape. To some degree the presence in the landscape of the
proposed development would compromise its historic rural character, but the effect of this on the
significance of the castle would seem likely to be slight.
Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that where a development proposal will lead to a less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use. It is
considered that in this case the provision of the upgraded gas compressor station which has
national importance in terms of energy delivery provides public benefits which do outweigh the less
than significant harm the development might have on Woodcroft Castle. It must also be
acknowledged that the existing site already affects the character of the historic rural landscape.
Sections 66 and 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act places a special duty upon local planning authorities to have regard to the desire to preserve or
enhance the special architectural and/or historic character of listed buildings and conservation
areas and their settings. Whilst there might be a slight effect on views from Woodcroft Castle, the
change in character of the area, given the presence of the existing site is not so great as to cause

59

noticeable harm. With regard to grade II listed buildings and conservation areas the site is
adequately screened and set within the landscape so as to not impact upon these assets and their
preservation is maintained. The local planning authority has had regard to their duty under this Act
and finds the development acceptable.
The applicant undertook a geophysical survey of the site, the results of which have been submitted
in the Cultural Heritage Desk Based Assessment together with details of archaeological recorded
finds in the locality. In consultation with the Council’s archaeologist, the applicant has undertaken
the required field work following the excavation of trial trenches across 5.3 hectares of the field to
the east of the current gas compressor site i.e. the area which would become the extended site.
To date the archaeological work has been carried out in accordance with the Written Scheme of
Investigation (WSI) dated 24 September 2015. The Council’s Archaeologist is happy with the field
work undertaken but requires a condition to ensure that this investigation and findings are reported
and archived in accordance with the WSI. This is acceptable and accords with policy PP17 of the
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
Noise
Operational Noise
The current gas compressor station is subject to the following noise condition;
“The compressor station should be so designed that at points 175 metres and 275 metres from the
boundaries of OS field no 0369 the noise level when the station is operating at full load does not
exceed 45dB(A) and 37dB(A) at night.”
National Grid has two recorded complaints concerning noise, one from 1999 and the other from
2005. In previous assessment taken for the site, the 175m measurement is taken to be from
Woodcroft Villas and the 275m measurement has been taken to be the property “Jodi” (renamed
from Kabul).
Consultation was carried out with the Principal Pollution Control Officer at pre-application stage.
The location of the off-site noise monitoring points was agreed with the Pollution Control Officer at
the outset and is a fair representation of the locations of surrounding properties.
The noise report concludes that during the daytime the predicted noise levels will be below levels
that will cause any adverse effects. At night time and when the gas turbines are operating at full
load (in winter) there may be some adverse effects relating to sleep disturbance (the Pollution
Control Officer confirmed that it is acceptable to assume that in winter, windows are less likely to
be open as in summer and also background noise levels are more likely to be higher). However,
the compressors will be operating within the ranges set out for the existing compressors and these
have not led to any complaints other than those set out above (this is confirmed by the Pollution
Control Officer). The applicant has used Best Available Technology to build mitigation into the
design of the compressors at additional cost to the project. The applicant states that further
reductions in noise would not be possible without enclosing each gas turbine machinery train
enclosure in a separate stand-alone building. This option is not available to the applicant for
operational, maintenance, programme, land take and funding reasons which could potentially
impact on National Grid’s ability to meet its legal gas supply obligations. The case officer
comments that the applicant discussed the noise level limit with officers before producing a design
of gas turbine to meet those noise level limits.
The Principal Pollution Control Officer has not objected to the proposal subject to the noise level
condition being imposed as set out below. In recommending a noise limit, the Pollution Control
Officer has taken into account the following matters;


The existing planning condition and the basis for the noise limits described therein.

60



The level of noise from the source above the background noise levels.



The likely variation in the background noise levels.



The existing noise levels and tonality associated with existing plant.



The intermittent operation of the plant.



The periods during which the plant would most likely be operational.



The introduction of a new source into the locality that may attract attention.



The potential for reasonable noise complaint, and the consequences to the operator and
the Local Authority in those circumstances.

The Principal Pollution Control Officer previously explained that;
“This noise level (set by the proposed condition) is lower than that previously specified since it
incorporates a penalty for noise characteristics (the “rating” level, that wasn’t included in the
existing noise limit). The applicant was of the opinion that a simple swap of conditions would
suffice since there was a history of little complaint, however the new noise source may have been
very different in character, so this Section was unable to support such a position and
recommended the condition as proposed.”
Construction Noise
National Grid explains that there is a constrained programme for the completion of the works to
ensure that the work can be undertaken whilst continuing to meet the required security of supply
requirements as set out in their licence to maintain gas supplies to customers on a continual basis.
There are limited shut down opportunities during the summer months when the demand is lowest.
In terms of planning the construction works, National Grid confirms the following;
 The construction programme is 2 years long but will include extended periods where
activities of a specialist nature will need to be carried out e.g. Pipe welds to complete,
mechanical, electrical and instrument installation where heavy plant and large workforces
will not be needed
 There are certain activities that will require working outside normal construction hours
including commissioning of plant, however, at this stage the noise will be no more than that
emitted during the normal running of the plant.
 The applicant will plan the construction work so that as far as possible activities that may
give rise to noise heard by neighbours outside the site to not occur outside of normal
working hours. If there are instances where some noisy activities outside normal hours
can’t be avoided, we will give notice to our neighbours explaining what is to occur in
advance. We will maintain our Freephone hotline throughout the construction period.
 We intend to enter into a S61 agreement (under the Control of Pollution Act 1974) with the
local authority pollution control team. Such agreements have been used successfully on
large scale construction projects e.g. Crossrail. Each agreement is usually agreed on a
forthcoming 6-8 month basis.
 As part of our tendering process, we will ensure that a competent, responsible contractor is
selected who will register the site with the Considerate Contractors Scheme and will adopt
the Code of Considerate Practice.
 National Grid recognises its responsibility to deliver on the promises it has made both
during construction and the operational phases of the development.

61

The Principal Pollution Control Officer has raised no objections with regard to construction noise
and has been in communication with the applicant over this issue. He is happy the Section 61
route proposed by the applicant and suggested that the developer registers with the Considerate
Contractors Scheme which the applicant has been happy to commit to.
The case officer has considered whether a condition might be appropriate with regard to
construction hours but is not recommending such an approach due to the nature of the works
proposed. There will no doubt be certain works and some occasions where works will need to be
continued outside normal hours due to the nature of the project. Conditions must meet all the six
tests set out in the NPPF. It is not considered that in this case restrictive condition would be able
to be constructed so as to be precise, would be reasonable given the nature of the operation
concerned and is necessary given that the applicant has made commitments as set out above.
Therefore whilst the comments of the Parish Council and neighbours are noted, it is not
appropriate to condition construction hours. (Such a condition was not proposed on the previous
application which was refused on visual grounds only).
It is considered that the proposal is in accordance with policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning
Policies DPD as it will not cause unacceptable noise disturbance for the occupiers or users of any
nearby property or land.
Odour/Pollution
The Air Quality Assessment submitted with the application concludes that emission levels from the
plant will be improved at the indicative stack height of 14.7 metres with further but less marked
improvements as the stack height might increase to a maximum of 21.5 metres. The final design
of the compressors would be conditioned up to a maximum stack height of up to 21.5 metres.
Impacts from the construction phase will be negligible from traffic sources. There may be fugitive
dust from activities such as demolition, earthworks excavation, on site construction vehicle
movement, material transfer etc. This can be kept to a minimum by operation of a dust
management regime on site and it is proposed to secure a dust management plan by condition.
The Pollution Control Officer has not commented on air quality issues because emissions from the
plant itself are heavily regulated through the permitting regime which is enforced by the
Environment Agency. It is not for planning to duplicate regulatory functions covered by the
Environment Agency.
The application therefore complies with policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD as
it will not result in unacceptable odour and pollution.
Flood Risk/Drainage
The NPPF sets out that local planning authorities should direct inappropriate development away
from areas at the highest risk of flooding. Paragraphs 100 to 103 are most relevant. Policy CS 22
of the Core Strategy reflects the advice in the NPPF.
The current Environment Agency Flood Maps show that the current gas compressor site is partially
in flood zones 2 and 3 (most at risk of flooding). The proposed extension to the site is in Flood
Zone 1.
The application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and flood modelling for the
Brook Drain catchment (by Jacobs) which demonstrates that apart from a small, undeveloped
portion which is in flood zone two, the whole site is in flood zone 1. The applicant also submitted a
Hydrology/Hydrogeology report. The Environment Agency has accepted the FRA and raises no
objections. The Agency has requested conditions be imposed which deal with potential
contamination.

62

The Council’s Drainage Team has raised no objections and has requested a condition requiring a
surface water drainage scheme be submitted.
Therefore in terms of flood risk and drainage the proposal accords with the above policies and is
acceptable.
Other Issues
Agricultural Land Classification
Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that where development of significant agricultural land is
necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality in preference to
that of higher quality. Higher quality land is defined as falling within classes 1, 2 and 3a of the
Agricultural Land Classification (ALC). The agricultural land which will form the extension of the
site falls within ALC 3, but it is not known if this is all or partially 3a or 3b. Therefore, taking the
worst case scenario, the land could be class 3a. However, it is considered that even if this is the
case, the need for the development in terms of energy provision outweighs the loss of
approximately 5 hectares of potentially class 3a land. The land required has been kept to a
minimum necessary and the area that will serve as the development compound will be returned to
agricultural use one the development is complete.
Minerals Safeguarding
The eastern most part of the application site boundary i.e. part of the extension of the site into the
field to the east, just encroaches into the mineral safeguarding areas for sand and gravel and brick
clay. The development will not prejudice possible future extraction within the remaining field area.
It would not be feasible or viable to extract the amount of mineral possibly affected by this
development. The proposal is not therefore in conflict with policy CS 26 of the Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD.
Taking into Account the Previous Decision
The previous decision (15/01235/FUL) is a material consideration in the determination of the
current application. This decision was recent and the development plan policies remain the same.
There has been no significant change in any relevant national policy since then. Whilst Members
are able to consider this current application in full, it must be borne in mind that the previous
scheme was refused for one reason only, relating to visual appearance. In this instance it would
be reasonable to say that if the applicant overcomes the sole reason for refusal, the development
should be acceptable.
6

Conclusions

The proposed development to the Peterborough Gas Compressor Station is part of a national
programme of upgrades for key operational sites in the National Transmission System of gas
energy supply. The primary focus of which is the reduction of emissions to meet the European
Union Directive for Large Combustion Plants. The proposals are supported by EN 1, the
overarching National Policy Statement for Energy. The reduction in NOx and CO2 will benefit the
local environment. The proposals will result in a development which will be more visible than the
current gas compressor site, in particular the new gas turbine compressor units and the vent stack
(which is to be located on the proposed extended site to the east of the current facility). It is
accepted that for operational and safety issues as well as planning issues such as flood risk, the
eastern extension of the site is the most viable and that the principle of the development is
acceptable in accordance with policy CS1 of the Core Strategy. The application details have been
assessed and the key issues relating to the following matters have been identified;
Transport
Scale/design and impact on neighbours

63

Impact on landscape character and landscaping
Biodiversity/ecology
Heritage/archaeology
Noise
Odour/pollution
Flood Risk/Drainage
Of these issues, scale and design (impact on views) and noise have been noted as of particular
importance to those residents who have made comments. The previous application was refused
on a visual appearance ground only. The applicant has subsequently worked hard in consultation
with Glinton Parish Council, residents and the Local Planning Authority, to overcome this reason
for refusal. It is considered that the proposed enhancements to the scheme do overcome the
reason for refusal.
The above detailed issues have been considered against national policies contained in the NPPF
and the relevant development plan policies, and whilst there will still be some impact on visual
amenity, it is not significant enough to result in the application being contrary to policy. In terms of
noise, the proposal will be no worse than the existing plant and indeed the proposed noise
condition is more stringent than that currently imposed. All other issues have been satisfactorily
dealt with and/or can be covered by the imposition of conditions. The exception is construction
hours where the applicant proposes to deal with construction noise through means outside the
planning system which is acceptable. There have been no objections raised by statutory or other
consultees. The National Planning Policy Framework sets out that proposed development which
accords with an up to date local plan should be approved. In this instance, the local plan (the
development plan) is up to date because the relevant policies accord with the NPPF. There are no
other material considerations which indicate that the development should not be approved in line
with the development plan.
7

Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is granted
subject to the following conditions;
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).
2. The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the following drawings
unless amended by any drawings submitted and approved in respect of condition 3;
PAC2697-002 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-004 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-003 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-008 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-013/01 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-013/02 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-005 Rev 2016/01
(sheets 1-4)
PAC2697-009 Rev 2016/02
PAC2697-010 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-001/01 Rev 2016/02
PAC2697-006/1-2 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-011 Rev 2016/01
PAC2697-012 Rev 2016/01

Existing Site Layout
Site Decommissioning
Proposed Site Layout Plan
Proposed Gas Cleaning Equipment
Revised Construction Phasing Plan
Revised Construction Phasing Plan
Existing and Proposed Side Elevations
Proposed Vent Stack
Proposed Site Office Floor Plan
Site Location Plan
Proposed Site Office elevations, facades and roof
Proposed Infrastructure and Buildings without
Detailed Elevation Drawings
General Construction Arrangement

64

Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved
3. The proposed gas compressors (cabs D, E & F) shall be located in the position shown on
the approved site layout plan PAC2697-003 Rev 2016/01. The overall height of the
compressor units (i.e. to the stop of the stacks) shall not exceed 21.5 metres as measured
from the top of the slab base to the top of the stack. Prior to any construction of the
compressor units above slab base, drawings of their final design shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The compressor units shall not be
constructed other than in accordance with the approved drawings.
Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved and in the interests of visual amenity,
neighbour amenity and landscape character in accordance with policies CS16 and CS20 of
the Peterborough Core Strategy and policies PP2, PP3 and PP16 of the Peterborough
Planning Policies DPD.
4. Prior to the erection of any new permanent external lighting or the relocation of existing
external lighting within the site or the area edged blue on the approved site location plan, a
scheme of lighting (or schemes on a construction phase by phase basis) shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme(s) shall be
informed by a “lighting study” to be undertaken by the developer as set out at paragraph
4.30 of the submitted Design and Access Statement. The submitted scheme(s) shall
demonstrate that the external lighting does not exceed the obtrusive limitations for sky
glow, light into windows, source intensity and building luminance as set out in the Institution
of Lighting Engineers document “Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light
GN01:2011. No permanent external lighting shall be erected unless in accordance with the
approved scheme(s). Where a reasonable complaint is thereafter made to the Local
Authority concerning the resultant lighting levels, the developer shall submit a report (by a
suitably qualified person) to the Local Planning Authority within 2 months of being
requested to do so which demonstrates compliance with this condition (the approved
scheme(s) and obtrusive light limitations) or otherwise sets out measures with a timetable
to secure compliance. Such measures shall be fully implemented within the agreed period
with the Local Planning Authority, together with any such other measures as specified by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, protected species habitats and reduction of
night time sky glow in accordance with policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and
policies PP3 and PP19 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
5. Prior to the commencement of any demolition or construction in any phase on the site or
within the area edged blue on the approved site location plan, a Dust Mitigation Scheme
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented in full from the commencement of that phase of the
development or from the commencement of the first demolition (whichever is sooner) until
the completion of that development phase.
Reason: In the interests of protection of residential amenity in accordance with policy PP3
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition
because the dust mitigation must be agreed before the potential for nuisance through
fugitive dust can occur.
6. Subsoil and/or topsoil stripped from the site or from land within the applicant’s control (land
edged blue on the approved site location plan), shall be stored in separate mounds in the
area shown as “temporary soil storage area” on the approved General Construction
Arrangement plan PAC2967-012 Rev 2016/01. The soils shall be stripped, stockpiled and
maintained in accordance with the recommendations contained in the Construction Code of
Practice for Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites, Defra, 2009.

65

Reason: In order that the soil will be suitable for re-use on site (as proposed) and not
therefore permitted to degenerate into an unfit state for re-use in accordance with
paragraph 109 of the NPPF and to prevent wind-blown soil affecting the amenity of nearby
residents in accordance with PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
7. Prior to the commencement of the development details of the following species habitat
mitigation measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority;
1. Bat roosting boxes
2. Bird nesting boxes for a variety of species
3. Great Crested Newt and Reptile refuges (within the new scrub habitat area)
The details shall include the numbers, locations and timetable for the provision of each
refuge/box and shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details (and
timetable) and retained as such thereafter.
Reason: In order to preserve protected species and habitats in accordance with policy
CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and policy PP19 of the Peterborough Planning
Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition because potential habitat will be
removed/disturbed early in the development and the mitigation must be agreed in order it
can be provided as soon as feasible in the development programme.
8. Prior to the commencement of any development within 5 metres of the watercourse running
along the southern boundary of the site, further surveys shall be undertaken in respect of
water voles and the results of the surveys together with any necessary mitigation measures
(including implementation timetable) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Should mitigation measures be necessary, these shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details. With regard to badgers, no works shall take
place except in complete accordance with the recommendations set out in the
Memorandum “Peterborough Compressor Station Pre-Construction Badger Survey” by
Jacobs dated 22 September 2015.
Reason: In order to preserve protected species and habitats in accordance with policy
CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and policy PP19 of the Peterborough Planning
Policies DPD.
9. Prior to the commencement of the 2017/18/19 removal of equipment and trees, as shown
on plan PAC2697-013 Rev 2016/01, a tree protection plan for all retained trees and details
of tree protection measures in accordance with BS 5837:2012 shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be
implemented in full throughout the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, landscape character and ecology in accordance
with policies CS20 and CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and policies PP3 and
PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition
because the retained trees must be protected from damage at the outset of the
development.
10. A landscaping scheme for all retained, new and restored areas of planting shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of the 2017/18/19 removal of equipment and trees, as shown on plan
PAC2697-013/01 Rev 2016/01. The scheme shall include a plan and schedule which
shows numbers of trees/shrubs to be planted, locations, spacing of plants, size of plants
and species together with a timetable for undertaking the planting. The scheme shall also
include specifications and drawings of the proposed “tree screen structure” shown on the
submitted Figure 3.0 drawing. The approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full
in accordance with the approved details and timetable.

66

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, landscape character and ecology in accordance
with policies CS20 and CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and policies PP3 and
PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
11. The landscaping scheme (as required by condition 10) shall be accompanied by a long
term (minimum 25 years) combined ecology and landscape management plan which must
be approved prior to the commencement of the 2017 installation as shown on plan
PAC2697-013/01 Rev 2016/01. The approved management plan shall be implemented in
full from the date the first planting is undertaken. The management plan shall include a
timetable and methodology for reporting on the health and success of the implemented
landscaping and ecological mitigation over the term of the management plan. Such reports
together with any further necessary mitigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the approved timetable and thereafter
implemented in full.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, landscape character and ecology in accordance
with policies CS20 and CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and policies PP3 and
PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
12. The rating level of noise emitted from the site shall not exceed 45dB LAeq, 1 hour between
07:00 and 23:00; and 45 dB LAeq,15 minutes at any other time. The noise levels shall be
determined at any residential dwelling. The measurements and assessment should be
made according to BS:4142:2014.
Reason: To minimise noise disturbance to occupiers of nearby residential properties in
accordance with policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
13. No development shall take place until a scheme that includes the following components to
deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority;
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
 All previous land uses
 Potential contaminants associated with those uses
 A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
 Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
3. The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment referred to in (2)
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: Based on the Phase 1 Land Quality Assessment dated July 2015 by Jacobs, there
has been past use of the site that could have caused contamination. A Phase II report is
required to address any potential risk posed to controlled waters in accordance with
paragraph 120 and 121 of the NPPF and policy PP20 of the Peterborough Planning
Policies DPD. This is a pre-commencement condition because any contamination must be
adequately dealt with before development takes place to prevent further contamination to
the local environment including groundwater from taking place.
14. No part of the development authorised by this permission shall be brought into use until a
verification report demonstrating completion of works set out in the approved remediation

67

strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation strategy has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of
sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also include any plan
(a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer term monitoring of pollutant
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the
verification plan. The long-term monitoring and maintenance plan shall be implemented as
approved.
Reason: To ensure that if any remedial work is required for land contamination, that is
undertaken as per an approved Remediation Strategy and that a Verification Report is
produced in accordance with Environment Agency CLR 11 “Model Procedures for the
Management of Land Contamination” and in accordance with the National Planning Policy
Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and Policy PP20 of the Peterborough
Planning Policies DPD (2012).
15. If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local
Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work in that area shall be
carried out until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect
contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete
accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and Policy
PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).
16. The construction compound area shall be laid out and managed in accordance with the
submitted details through the lifetime of the construction period. All delivery vehicles shall
unload within the site or the land edged blue on the approved site location plan and all
vehicles shall exit the site in a forward gear. Prior to the commencement of the
development, details of the wheel washing facilities for construction vehicles shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved wheel
washing facilities shall be placed on site prior to the commencement of development and
shall remain operable on site whilst development is taking place.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy PP12 of the
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. This is partially a pre-commencement condition
because the wheel washing facilities must be in place at the outset of development for
highway safety reasons.
17. The archaeological investigations undertaken at the site, and findings, shall be reported,
published and archived in full and in complete accordance with the WSI by Oxford
Archaeology East dated 24 September 2015 and the timetable contained therein.
Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to mitigate the
impact of their scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not
possible, in accordance with paragraphs 128 and 141 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy
PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).
18. The vent stacks shown on approved drawing PAC2697-009 Rev 2016/02 shall be no higher
than 25 metres above the top of the slab base.
Reason: To clarify what is hereby approved and in the interests of visual amenity,
neighbour amenity and landscape character in accordance with policies CS16 and CS20 of

68

the Peterborough Core Strategy and policies PP2, PP3 and PP16 of the Peterborough
Planning Policies DPD.
19. No above ground development in a particular construction phase (relating to the following
pieces of plant/buildings) shall take place until details of external materials to the
compressor units, vent stacks, gas cleaning equipment and site office have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details submitted for
approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour (using
BS4800) and reference number. The development of each piece of plant/building shall not
be carried out except in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).
20. Prior to the commencement of development the detailed design of the surface water
drainage scheme, including discharge rates shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not take place except in complete
accordance with the approved drainage scheme.
Reason: In order to ensure that a sustainable drainage scheme is used where feasible and
to minimise flood risk in accordance with policy CS 22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy.
This is a pre-commencement condition because surface water drainage will need to be
agreed and provided for early in the development programme.
Informatives
1. “Development” for the purposes of the conditions attached to this permission has the same
meaning as set out in Section 55.10 (1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).
2. The advice contained within the Environment Agency’s letter dated 22 October 2015 should
be noted and acted upon as appropriate.
3. Highways Act 1980 - Section 184, Sub-sections (3)(4)(9)
This development involves the construction of a new or alteration of an existing vehicular
crossing within a public highway.
These works MUST be carried out in accordance with details specified by Peterborough
City Council.
Prior to commencing any works within the public highway, a Road Opening Permit must be
obtained from the Council on payment of the appropriate fee.
Contact is to be made with the Transport & Engineering - Development Team on 01733
453474 or email HighwaysDevelopmentTeam@peterborough.gov.uk who will supply the
relevant application form, provide a preliminary indication of the fee payable and specify the
construction details and drawing(s) required.
4. The development is likely to involve works within the public highway in order to provide
services to the site. Such works must be licenced under the New Roads and Street Works
Act 1991. It is essential that, prior to the commencement of such works, adequate time be
allowed in the development programme for; the issue of the appropriate licence, approval of
temporary traffic management and booking of road space. Applications for NR & SWA
licences should be made to Transport & Engineering - Street Works Co-Ordinator on 01733
453578.
5. It is an offence to intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy, obstruct or disturb any
structure or place which a bat uses for shelter or protection. Trees and structures subject of
this application should be inspected to ensure bats are not present before works start.

69

If any proposed works are likely to destroy or disturb bats or their roosts, Natural England
must be notified, and allowed a reasonable time to advise on whether any action is
necessary and, if so, the method to be used. Natural England can be contacted on 0845
601 4523 or email wildlife@naturalengland.org.uk
6. It is an offence to take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while it is being built or
in use. Trees, scrub and/or structures likely to contain nesting birds between 1st March and
31st August are present on the application site. You should assume that they contain
nesting birds between the above dates unless survey has shown it is absolutely certain that
nesting birds are not present. Planning consent for a development does not provide a
defence against prosecution. The protection of nesting wild birds remains unchanged even
when planning permission is granted. For further information on surveys contact
Peterborough City Council’s Wildlife Officer (wildlife@peterborough.gov.uk)
7. The applicant is reminded that under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981(Section 1) (as
amended) it is an offence to take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that
nest is in use or being built. Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting birds between 1
March and 31 August. Trees within the application should be assumed to contain nesting
birds between the above dates unless a survey has shown it is absolutely certain that
nesting birds are not present.
8. With regard to condition 3, the Local Planning Authority expects that the final design of the
compressor units will build upon the “cladding” designs shown in the submitted elevations.
As the applicant has stated we anticipate that prior to submission of the final drawings to
discharge condition 3, the applicant will have consulted with Glinton Parish Council.
Copies to Councillors: Holdich and Lamb

70

71

This page is intentionally left blank

72

Planning and EP Committee 26 April 2016

Item 3

Application Ref:

16/00180/HHFUL

Proposal:

2 storey extension to the side and single storey extension to the rear

Site:
Applicant:

5 Woodfield Road, Peterborough, PE3 6HD,
Mrs Louise Double

Agent:
Referred by:
Reason:
Site visit:

Mr Tony Pignatiello
M.A.P. Design Services
Head of Construction and Development
The agent is now an employee of Peterborough City Council
02.03.2016

Case officer:
Telephone No.
E-Mail:

Mrs A Walker
01733 454418
astrid.walker@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:

Grant subject to conditions

1

Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application property is a two storey semi-detached dwelling house with detached garage set to
the rear. The property is of 1930s style with attractive double height bay window to its front
elevation. The property has a hedge to its front boundary and the majority of the northern boundary
with number 3 Woodfield Road. The property has an existing dropped kerb and off road parking for
two cars on the driveway to the north side of the property.
The surrounding character is residential in nature comprising of 1930s style two storey semidetached dwellings like the application property. Many of the properties have been altered and
extended and there are a number of two storey side extensions visible within the street scene.
Proposal
Planning permission is sought for the following:
1)
2)

A two storey side extension of approximately 2.8 metres wide x 8.2 metres long
and x 8.6 metres high (5.8 metres to the eaves).
A single storey rear extension with a monopitch roof of approximately x 8.2 metres wide
by x 3.5 metres long by x 3.3 metres high (2.3 metres to the eaves)

It is proposed that materials that match those used in the construction of the existing dwelling are
used for the extension.
It should be noted that the proposal has been amended from the originally submitted scheme so
that the front of the two storey side extension has been sent back by approximately 1m and will
continue the original stepped back building line, rather than extending across from the porch
addition. The style of windows has also been amended to feature a horizontal and vertical glazing
bar so that they are more in keeping with those used in the existing property. Side hung garage
doors with high level window have substituted the previously proposed up and over style garage
door.

73

2

Planning History

No relevant planning history
3

Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)
CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm,
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)
PP02 - Design Quality
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.
PP03 - Impacts of New Development
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.
PP13 - Parking Standards
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made
in accordance with standards.
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016.
At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.
4

Consultations/Representations

No comments received.
Local Residents/Interested Parties
Initial consultations: 6
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0
No representations have been received from any nearby neighbours.
5

Assessment of the planning issues

74

The main planning issues are:




The impact of the development on the character of the area
The impact of the development on neighbour amenity
Parking

The Impact of the development on the character of the area
The application dwelling is a 1930s style two storey semi-detached dwelling of an attractive
appearance and retains much of its original character. Notwithstanding this the property is not
within a conservation area or protected by an Article 4. Many of the properties within the street
have been altered and extended since their original construction.
The neighbouring property, number 3 Woodfield Road has recently constructed a two storey
extension to its south side that sits approximately 0.3 metres from the common boundary with the
application dwelling. The proposed two storey extension would sit to the north side of the property
and extend up to the boundary, with a separation distance of approximately 0.3 metres. The
proposal would therefore erode the remaining separation gap that sits between the application
dwelling and the neighbouring property number 3 Woodfield Road. The spacing between
properties is generally considered an important part of the character of a street and extensions
should be designed so that they preserve this and avoid the creation of a ‘terracing effect’. For
extensions to the side of a property it is usually considered good design to step the extension back
and reduce the ridge height. This is to enhance the spacing between the properties and ensure
that the extension appears subordinate to the host property.
In this instance however it is not considered that such a step back and reduction in ridge height
would work and that it would draw more attention to the application dwelling and the relationship to
number 3 Woodfield Road, as well as making the pair of semi-detached dwellings look
unbalanced. The loss of the spacing between the properties in this case is only apparent when
viewed directly from the front of the property and not overly obvious in a long view taking from the
north or south end of the street. The design of the extension has been amended from the originally
submitted scheme so that it has been set back by approximately 1 m from the front porch and will
follow the existing staggered part of the original front building line. The existing roof style and line
will be continued. The style of windows and doors have also been changed to be more in keeping
with the age of the property and those within the host dwelling.
On balance therefore it is considered that whilst the proposal would erode the spacing between the
application property and number 3 Woodfield Road, this would not result in a sufficiently
detrimental impact on the character of the street scene so as to warrant the refusal of the
application. The design has been amended so that it is sympathetic to the host property and it will
not appear out of keeping with the character of the properties in the area, of which many have
been extended and altered.
The single storey rear extension will not be visible from the street scene and will not have any
adverse impact on the character of the area.
The proposal is therefore considered in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core
Strategy and Policy PP02 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
The impact of the development on neighbour amenity
No representations have been received from any nearby neighbours.
The neighbouring dwelling to the north, number 3 Woodfield Road, has a blank side wall adjacent
to the common boundary with the application property. The proposed two storey extension does
not have any side windows and will not extend beyond the depth of the neighbours side extension.
Number 3 Woodfield Road also has a single storey rear extension. This is set back from the
common boundary by approximately 2.8 metres. The proposed single storey extension will not

75

project beyond the depth of this, and given the position of the neighbours’ windows in the west
facing wall of their extension it is not considered that the single storey extension will result in any
adverse impact on their amenities.
The adjoining dwelling to the south, number 7 Woodfield Road, has a small lean to glazed
extension adjacent to the common boundary. The proposed extension will not project beyond this.
It is not therefore considered that the extension would result in any adverse impact on the
amenities of the occupiers of the adjoining dwelling.
The proposed extensions are therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core
Strategy and Policy PP03 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD as they will not result in a
detrimental impact on neighbour amenity.
Parking
The property currently has two on plot parking spaces on the driveway to the side of the house.
The proposed extension will fill this area in leaving only one space to the front driveway. Policy
PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD requires the provision of two car parking spaces.
The applicant has submitted a parking statement including photographs of Woodfield Road, taken
over five days at various times in support of the application. The photographs show that whilst
there are a few cars parking on the street at any given time the street does not appear overly
congested or to suffer from on street parking problems. At the time of visiting the site the street had
five cars parked on the highway. Therefore it is not considered that the Local Planning Authority
could resist the development on the grounds of the loss of one car parking space. Should further
applications for two storey side extensions to neighbouring properties come forward in the future
the parking situation will be assessed at the time of the application to ensure that any development
does not exacerbate on street parking problems.
Given that the proposal is acceptable in all other regards and given that there is sufficient capacity
to provide one car parking space on street it is considered that the proposal is on balance
acceptable in terms of the proposed parking provision in accordance with Policy PP13 of the
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
6

Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of
the development plan and specifically:



The proposed development will not result in an unacceptable impact on the character of the
area or neighbour amenity.
The proposed parking provision, in the context of the application site, where there is
capacity to park one car on the street is considered acceptable.

The development is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy
and Policies PP02, PP03 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.
7

Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is APPROVED
subject to the following conditions:
C1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).

76

C2

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extensions
hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building.
Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C3

Prior to the first occupation of the extension hereby approved, one parking space of 2.5 m x
5m shall be provided to the front driveway as shown on the proposed block plan ‘drawing
number 003 (3 of 3) Rev A dated 05.04.16’ and subsequently retained as such in perpetuity
for the purposes of parking a car in connection with number 5 Woodfield Road.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy PP13 of the
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C4

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:




Existing Floor Plans and Elevations – drawing 001 (1 of 3)- January 2016
Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations – drawing 002 ( 2 of 3) – January 2016
Existing and Proposed Block Plan - drawing 003 (3 of 3) Rev A 05.04.16.

Reason: To clarify the approved details and to ensure the development accords with the
reasoning and justification for granting approval.
Copies to Councillors: Ayres, Fitzgerald and Maqbool

77

This page is intentionally left blank

78

79

This page is intentionally left blank

80

Planning and EP Committee

Item 4

Application Ref:

16/00334/HHFUL

Proposal:

Single storey rear extension and a porch to the side elevation

Site:
Applicant:
Referred by:
Reason:

126 Ainsdale Drive, Werrington, Peterborough, PE4 6RP
Mr & Mrs N Galloway
Head of Planning Services
The agent is now a member of staff within Building Regulations

Agent:
Site visit:

Mr Tony Pignatiello
M.A.P. Design Services
23.03.2016

Case officer:
Telephone No.
E-Mail:

Mr D Jolley
01733 453414
david.jolley@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation:

GRANT subject to relevant conditions

1

Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings
The application site is a detached two storey dwelling of brick and tile construction in a residential
cul de sac location. The application site has an open front garden with space for two vehicles,
driveway to the side and detached rear garage. The dwelling has been extended to the rear with a
single storey flat roof extension.
Proposal
Permission is sought for a single storey rear extension with monopitch roof, alteration of existing
rear extension roof to monopitch roof and porch to the side elevation with monopitch roof.
2

Planning History

No relevant planning history
3

Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)
CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm,
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)
PP02 - Design Quality
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

81

PP03 - Impacts of New Development
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.
PP13 - Parking Standards
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made
in accordance with standards.
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016.
At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.
4

Consultations/Representations

Werrington Neighbourhood Council
No comments received
Local Residents/Interested Parties
Initial consultations: 4
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0
No representations have been received in relation to the proposal.
5

Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are;



The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings

The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
The rear extension will not be visible from the public realm and will have no impact upon the
character of the area.
The porch, which will be visible, is 1.2 metres wide. It is relatively deep at 5.28 metres, however
this will not be immediately apparent when viewed from the front due to the narrow gap between
the porch and the neighbour. The porch is of a simple monopitch design which is appropriate for
the host dwelling which is a late 1960's dwelling.
The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings
The porch faces a neighbour’s blank flank wall but it will not cause overshadowing of the neighbour
and will not result in a loss of privacy.
The single storey rear extension will infill a space between the existing single storey flat roof
extension and the boundary. The roof will be changed from flat, to a monopitch design. The
neighbour to the north east has an extension directly adjacent to the boundary which projects to
the same extent as the proposed extension. It is therefore considered that the increased roof

82

height of the extension will not result in unacceptable levels or overshadowing and will not be
overbearing to the occupiers of the neighbouring dwelling.
The neighbour to the south west is staggered 2.0 metres further rearward than the application site
dwelling. The result of this is that the rear extension only projects approximately 1.3 metres beyond
the rear wall of this neighbour. Due to the infilling of the space adjacent to the boundary and the
increase in roof height, the extension will cause a small amount of overshadowing of a kitchen
window of the neighbour mid-morning. However the overshadowed window is not the only window
serving the kitchen in these dwellings and as such the overshadowing will not be materially harmful
to neighbour amenity.
Notwithstanding the above, the single storey rear extension and the alteration of the roof to the
existing extension are considered to be permitted development and as such it would not be
reasonable for the LPA to refuse this element of the proposal.
Other Matters
The porch will partially block the drive and prevent vehicular access to the garage. However the
driveway is substandard in width at 2.4 metres and as such does not count towards existing
parking provision. There is ample space to the front of the dwelling for two vehicles. This is
compliant with current parking policy PP13.
6

Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of
the development plan and specifically:


7

The proposal will not unacceptably harm the character of the area, the amenity of the
occupiers of neighbouring dwellings or the safety of users of the nearby highway network;
in accordance with policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2011 and
policies PP2, PP3 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012.
Recommendation

The case officer recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED subject to the following
conditions:
C1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from
the date of this permission.
Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended).

C2

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with drawings;
Proposed Layouts, Existing and proposed block plans and Sections and constructional
details.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.

C3

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extensions
hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building.
Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors: Davidson, Fower and Thacker

83

This page is intentionally left blank

84

PLANNING & ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
COMMITTEE

AGENDA ITEM No. 6

26 APRIL 2016

PUBLIC REPORT

Contact Officer(s):

Simon Machen, Executive Director of Growth and
Regeneration
Jim Daley, Principal Built Environment Officer

Tel: 453475
Tel: 453522

PARTNERSHIP SCHEME IN CONSERVATION AREAS (PSiCA) (COWGATE)
RECOMMENDATIONS
FROM: Principal Built Environment Officer

Deadline date: N/A

That Committee notes the review of the Partnership Scheme in Conservation Areas (PSiCA) in the
Cowgate area of the City Centre Conservation area.

1.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

The purpose of this report is to review the achievements of the Partnership Scheme in
Conservation Areas (PSiCA) grant scheme (2011/12-2014/15) that supported the repair,
restoration and reinstatement of building fabric in Cowgate, an important part of the City
Centre Conservation Area. The report will explain how successful the scheme has been
and the benefits achieved.

2.

SUMMARY

2.1

The PSiCA scheme has played a major role in contributing to the regeneration and
enhancement of heritage assets in the Cowgate area of the City Centre Conservation Area.
Many buildings have been repaired, restored and much of the areas heritage architecture
has been secured. Vacant upper floors have been brought into optimum use.

2.2

The PSiCA project has shown that a way to help secure the future of an area is to get
owners and tenants to invest in an area and stimulate self-sustaining regeneration. Public
realm works have complemented the PSiCA scheme by combined area based
enhancement. Together they have arrested tell-tale signs indicating a downward spiral of
under-investment in the fabric of on area, revitalise the street and strengthened the local
economy.

2.3

The PSiCA scheme and public realm works have shown that heritage assets play a positive
role in achieving successful regeneration. High quality improvements have helped to
generate business confidence to engender pride in Peterborough and its heritage. The
fabric of the city centre has changed for the better and the City Centre Conservation Area is
no longer on Historic England’s ‘at risk’ register.

3.

BACKGROUND

3.1

In 2010 the City Centre Conservation Area was identified ‘at risk’ by Historic England. This
was due to concerns with the condition of the public realm, under occupancy of buildings
and the condition of individual heritage buildings, including listed buildings that appeared to
be suffering from lack of regular repair and maintenance. Of the 35 ground floor retail units
7 were vacant and others had under use of upper floors.

3.2

To help arrest this situation Historic England invited an application from Peterborough City
Council to join with Historic England in progressing a Partnership Scheme in Conservation

85

Areas (PSiCA) grant scheme to improve the Cowgate area of the City Centre Conservation
Area.
3.3

The detailed bid included a three year phased programme of work, and a schedule of
targeted buildings and anticipated costs. The Delivery Plan gave priority to the repair and
restoration of those buildings with the most architectural and historical importance,
particularly listed buildings, those in poor state of repair, and poor quality shop fronts and
signage. It was anticipated that up to 25 buildings would be enhanced / repaired over the
three year period of the scheme. The bid and delivery plan were successful and the
scheme was launched in April 2011.

4.

PARTNERSHIP SCHEME IN CONSERVATION AREA (PSiCA)

4.1

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas are grant schemes designed to promote
conservation-led regeneration. The PSiCA scheme by Historic England targeted regionally
important heritage towns in need of enhancement of the built environment. A high quality
environment is acknowledged as an important factor in attracting businesses and in helping
to foster a sense of well-being in those who live and work in a place.

4.2

The grant scheme concentrated on the Cowgate area, including properties to St Johns
Square. This part of the city centre is not only the most evident to visitors, shoppers and
business users, it being one of the two pedestrian routes from the rail station to the city
centre, but also contains many interesting Victorian buildings of the city centre conservation
area. The PSiCA scheme would complement other Council initiatives in the public realm
and its commitment to regenerate the city centre.

4.3

The objective of the scheme was to contribute towards the regeneration of the city centre
conservation area through the repair and restoration of the historic buildings of the Cowgate
area.

4.4

The aims were three fold –
 To encourage high quality external building repair in appropriate materials;
 To promote the authentic reinstatement of damaged and missing architectural
features; and
 To promote improvements in the design and appearance of shop fronts and
signage.

4.5

Under the PSiCA scheme Historic England and the City Council each allocated £35,000 a
year for three years (2011/2012 - 2014/2015) (£210,000 total) for grants towards the
authentic restoration and repair of eligible historic buildings. The Cowgate Traders
Association enthusiastically supported the scheme from the outset and in year 2 of the
scheme contributed £20,000 to fund further work and this was matched by Historic
England. Total expenditure has been £250,000 and with owner and tenant contributions
the total amount of expenditure was in excess of £375,000. A location map of target
buildings is shown at Appendix A and a list of buildings that have benefited from grant aid is
shown at Appendix B.

4.6

The grant scheme provided assistance to building owners and tenants to restore and repair
their buildings. Grants were offered at 50% of the total cost of eligible work, and in special
cases up to 75%. The balance of the cost of work was provided by building owners and
tenants. Grant recipients were required to implement the work within 6 months from the
date of the grant offer.

4.7

Eligible works covered the restoration of traditional shopfronts and the replacement of nonoriginal shop fronts with authentic replacements with concealed cornice lighting, signage,
the reinstatement of missing architectural features such timber sash windows, pilasters,
corbel brackets, cast iron rainwater goods, terra cotta ornaments and dentil course, the
repair of original external joinery, re-roofing, repair of brickwork, lead-work and re-pointing
and redecoration of painted elevations in complementary colour. Priority was given to

86

those buildings with the most architectural and historical importance; in poorest condition;
poor quality shop fronts and repairs to listed buildings.
4.8

The day to day promotion, publicity and implementation of the scheme was the
responsibility of the Councils Conservation Officer, assisted by a Heritage Regeneration
Officer (a three year post jointly funded by Opportunity Peterborough, Peterborough City
Council and Historic England). Building owners were approached directly with grants
offered for eligible works. Each scheme of work was developed and agreed between the
officer and the building owner / tenant. This ensured that the council monitored grant
recipients on the work, ensuring that it was carried out to a high quality, appropriate design,
and using traditional materials and methods.

4.9

Wherever possible restoration was based on photographic, documentary or archaeological
evidence. For example new dormer windows at 50 Cowgate reproduce the scale of the
street as it was when the building was constructed. The scale of the details was verified by
reference to historic photographs and illustrations.

5.

THE COWGATE AREA

5.1

Cowgate is a key street in the city centre leading west from Cathedral Square, and is a
gateway to the city centre. It is a medieval street located in the City Centre Conservation
Area and a strong pedestrian route to the bus and rail stations. A remnant of King Street
remains to the north side of Cowgate. This once was one of the city’s principal streets but
became a dead-end with the development of the Queensgate Centre. At its western end
Cowgate is terminated by Bourges Boulevard / Crescent Bridge roundabout.

5.2

A terraced street of some 36 buildings, (6 listed grade II and 9 locally listed) where the
principle functions are retail, commercial with several independent businesses and mostly
office use to upper floors. The south side is lined with many pleasant Victorian buildings.
Unfortunately, many of the original shop fronts had been replace with unsympathetic
aluminium fronts in the 1970’s and early 80’s of inappropriate design, unsympathetic fascia
signs and illumination. Many of the buildings, although altered at ground floor, retained
much original fabric to the upper floors. Some building frontages to the north have been
replaced over the years reflecting the architectural style of the time though the original
scale of the street remains.

5.3

Nearby St Johns Square to the east was created by the demolition of Norwich Union Office
block in 2010. With St John Church forming the centre piece to the east the buildings to the
square include 8 listed buildings and 2 locally listed buildings at Church Street and Queen
Street.

6.

PROGRESS

5.4

The first year began successfully with contacts being made with owners of key target
buildings within the PSiCA area. Publicity took the form of letters, press coverage and radio
interviews. The scheme was also promoted by the Councils Cabinet Member for City
Centre Management, Culture and Tourism.

5.5

The take up of grants and implementation in the first year was low, and this was not
unexpected given economic conditions, tenancies and some hesitancy from building
owners. Experience from a similar scheme at Spalding by South Holland District Council
was that once a building or shop front was improved the visible improvements helped to
promote the scheme and the Council would get requests for grants, and this proved to be
the case. After this initial slow built up there was strong support for the regeneration work,
to the extent that by the end of the scheme demand exceeded available grant. The
programme is now complete (summer 2015). All of the available funds of £250,000 have
been spent.

7.

ACHIEVEMENTS

87

7.1

Almost all the target outputs set for the PSICA scheme have been met. Two in three
buildings have been repaired and restored and much of the area’s heritage has been
secured. The majority of the other buildings are in good order. The heritage investment by
the PSiCA scheme is a success and has delivered the following benefits:





Secured the restoration (and re-use) of key city centre heritage buildings;
Stimulated the regeneration of the building fabric of Cowgate;
Led to the introduction of city centre living via flats-over-shops; and
A visually distinctive place with greater business confidence and public pride.

7.2

Of the 32 target properties some 22 properties received grant for building repair and
enhancement work. (69% of total properties). A list of the buildings to benefit from grant is
shown at Appendix B. (18 in Cowgate, 2 in Queen Street and 2 in Church Street). Before
and after photographs and a summary of key building works carried out are shown in
Appendix C.

7.3

The commercial attractiveness of Cowgate for retail use had traditionally been limited by a
high concentration of estate agents, and perhaps a part explanation for 7 vacant units at
the start of the PSiCA scheme. Economic downturn, stagnation of the housing market and
the rationalisation of estate agents has always left the area vulnerable to shop vacancy
through being over reliant on one use.

7.4

The combined PSiCA and public realm works appear to have brought about a sense of
positive change for owners and tenants. Public sector investment of £230,000 and
£165,000 by the private sector in grant contributions has created confidence and helped to
promote other investment and improvement. The regeneration work has helped to act as a
catalyst to further investment by owners and tenants, including the fitting out of vacant
buildings.

7.5

Only limited information is available to assess the impact of the works on the economic
vitality of Cowgate in the short time period since the completion of both schemes. However,
indications are that Cowgate has fared better than the rest of the city centre since 2011.
There is no data on employment, but the street has seen business growth, with a net
increase in trading shops and a widening of the commercial offer. Since 2011 the number
of occupied shop premises in Cowgate has increased (7 vacancies reduced to 1). Over the
same period shop vacancy rate in the rest of the city centre has remained broadly static. It
is understood from conversations between the conservation officer and local property
agents that rents have remained steady.

7.6

There has been a diversification of the offer of the street. A new small SPAR convenience
store, a jewelers and antiques shop, restaurant, hairdressers, and recruitment agencies
have opened. This is complemented by a public house, the post office, and three other
restaurants. Interestingly a specialist independent pie shop that opened two years ago in a
small unit has moved to larger premises in Bridge Street and it is understood that a
sandwich shop is to take the vacant unit.

7.7

The schemes have strengthened the character and appearance of Cowgate by providing a
better quality environment which brings a ‘buzz’. Cowgate has become a visually distinctive
place. The wider footways to the east end allow tables and chairs on forecourts and new
retractable traditional shop awnings add interest and attention to the street.

7.8

Two of the upper floors above shops that had been vacant for many years (12 and 50
Cowgate) have been brought into residential use. The owners of other buildings with
under-utilised floors have been in discussions with planning services on development
opportunities.

7.9

Last month the second city outlet of an authentic Italian Gelato cafe opened in Britannic
House, a large ground floor unit at the corner of King Street that had been empty for a
number of years and which had a negative impact on the appearance of the conservation

88

area. Tables and chairs in the warmer months in King Street will add to a cafe culture seen
elsewhere in the street. (The Pizza House and Topo Gigios).
8.

OTHER ENHANCEMENT WORK

8.1

The PSiCA scheme ran in parallel with several other projects and policy work by the City
Council to help enhance and rejuvenate the City Centre Conservation Area.

8.2

In 2013 extensive public realm work was carried out in Cowgate as part of the
implementation of the City Councils Public Realm Strategy that commenced in Cathedral
Square in 2010. Work included narrowed carriageway and widened footways to improve
pedestrian safety and enjoyment, removal of street posts, new street furniture and lighting
to buildings. The work has seen a shift in street character toward pedestrians and an
improved ‘gateway’ to Cowgate. The area can be better promoted and enlivened by
outdoor activities and events in King Street by businesses, the Cowgate Traders
Association and the City Council.

8.3

The street works have complemented the PSiCA scheme by achieving combined area
based enhancement to transform the appearance of the area and emphasise the historic
character of Cowgate (before and after photographs Appendix D and E).

8.4

In 2012 new Shopfront Design Guidance was adopted to improve the standard of shop
fronts and signage.

9.

FUTURE HERITAGE LED
CONSERVATION AREA

9.1

The PSiCA scheme has demonstrated the benefits of relatively modest public sector
investment to support the regeneration of an historic area and the preservation and
enhancement of heritage assets in the City Centre Conservation Area.

9.2

A business case is being made for funding for three years to continue to support heritage
based regeneration by targeting grants at other historic buildings in the City Centre
Conservation Area which have been affected by inappropriate replacement shop fronts,
oversized fascia and signage. (particularly 2, 4 and 6 Westgate and 1 Broadway).

10.

CONCLUSIONS

10.1

A high quality environment is acknowledged as an important factor in attracting businesses
and helping to foster a sense of well-being for people who live and work in an area. In
2010 there were concerns at signs indicating a downward spiral of under-investment in the
physical fabric of heritage buildings, retail and the public realm of the city centre.

10.2

The PSiCA scheme has brought about heritage led regeneration of the Cowgate area
providing repairs to key historic buildings and enhancing this part of the City Centre
Conservation Area. Many buildings have been restored and upper floors brought into
optimum use. Much of the areas heritage architecture has been secured. The fabric of the
City Centre has changed for the better and the City Centre Conservation Area was
removed from the ‘at risk’ register (2014).

10.3

The achievements of the PSiCA scheme have been widely acknowledged by local civic and
commercial groups. The work was positively supported from the outset by the Cowgate
Traders Association who made a £20,000 contribution in year 2 and matched by Historic
England.

10.4

The PSiCA project has shown that a way to help secure the future of an area is to get
owners and tenants to invest in an area, and stimulate self-sustaining regeneration. The
PSiCA and public realm works have helped build confidence. This is seen in vacant upper
floors at two properties brought back into use and encouraged new tenancies in vacant
units.

REGENERATION

89

WORK

IN

THE

CITY

CENRE

10.5

Further investment over the past year since the end of the PSICA by new tenants and
discussions with Planning Services for development opportunities at upper floors would
indicate that the process of regeneration in Cowgate has continued. There would appear to
be a virtuous spiral of regeneration. The regeneration work of both the PSiCA and the
public realm work has raised the profile of Cowgate as a place that is vibrant and appear to
have strengthened the area’s economic role in the city centre judging from the wider range
of offer in the street.

10.6

There is a need to keep a focus on Cowgate to ensure that what has been achieved is not
eroded. There is sufficient confidence that if property values increase it can be reasonably
expected that buildings will be repaired and renovated without the need for future grant aid.

10.7

The PSiCA and public realms work have shown that heritage assets play a positive role in
achieving successful regeneration. High quality improvements have helped to generate
business confidence to engender pride in Peterborough and its heritage.

10.8

The City Council is looking to continue heritage led regeneration in a grant scheme to
improve other historic buildings at key focal points in the City Centre Conservation Area.

11.

APPENDICES


Appendix A: Location plan PSiCA phased area



Appendix B: Grant aided properties



Appendix C: Photographs of building restoration and enhancement works



Appendix D: Photographs of Cowgate public realm enhancement scheme
2013/2014



Appendix E: Plan of Cowgate and King Street Public Realm Enhancement Scheme
2012/2013

90

APPENDIX A

91

This page is intentionally left blank

92

APPENDIX B

Address

Works

Building

4 & 6 Cowgate

New shopfronts, new cornice with lighting, signage.
Redecoration of painted elevation. Doors
New shopfronts, new cornice, with lighting, signage. New
fascia sign above alleyway and new gates. Redecoration of
painted elevation. Rainwater goods. Doors
New shopfront, cornice with lighting, signage. Masonry
repairs. New sash windows, reinstatement of colonnettes,
rainwater goods, cleaning and repair of brickwork.. Door
New cornice with lighting, redecoration, signage, repair of
sash windows, rainwater goods, redecoration of painted
elevation. Masonry repairs.
New cornice with lighting, signage, masonry repairs,
redecoration of shopfront and painted elevation. Timber
repairs including sash windows. Rainwater goods.
Re-slating, redecoration of painted elevation, timber repairs,
rainwater goods. Signage.
New fascia and corbel brackets, cornice, signage, timber
repair, redecoration of shopfront and other painting. Doors
New cornice, with lighting, signage, masonry repairs,
redecoration of shopfront and painted elevation.

Locally listed

8 & 10 Cowgate

12 Cowgate

14-30 Cowgate

32 Cowgate

36 Cowgate
38 & 38a Cowgate
40 Cowgate
46 & 48 Cowgate

Redecoration, signage, corbel boxes, new cornice with
lighting, timber repairs including sash windows, terracotta
repairs, re-slating, new and repaired dormers, rainwater
goods, redecoration of painted elevation
50 Cowgate
Redecoration of shopfront and painted elevation, signage,
new dormers, re-slating. Rainwater goods, chimney and
brickwork repairs. Doors
2 Queen Street & 2, 3 Replacement shopfronts, new cornice with lighting, signage.
& 4 Fortune Buildings Doors
4 Queen Street
Re-slating
8a & 9 Church Street New fascia sign and signage. New tripartite sash window

93

Locally listed

Locally listed

Locally listed

Listed grade II

Listed grade II

Locally listed
Listed grade II
Listed grade II

This page is intentionally left blank

94

APPENDIX C

4-6 Cowgate before

4-6 Cowgate after

8-10 Cowgate before

8-10 Cowgate after

95

APPENDIX C
12 Cowgate before

12 Cowgate after

14 – 30 Cowgate before

14 – 30 Cowgate after

96

APPENDIX C

32 Cowgate before

32 Cowgate after

38 & 38a Cowgate before

38 & 38a Cowgate after

97

APPENDIX C

40 Cowgate before

40 Cowgate after

46 & 48 Cowgate before

46 & 48 Cowgate after

98

APPENDIX C

50 Cowgate 1909

50 Cowgate before

2, 3 & 4 Fortune Buildings before

50 Cowgate after

2, 3 & 4 Fortune Buildings after

99

This page is intentionally left blank

100

APPENDIX D

Cowgate before

Cowgate after

Cowgate before

Cowgate after

101

APPENDIX D

Cowgate

Cowgate

Cowgate

Cowgate

102

APPENDIX E

103

This page is intentionally left blank

104

